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PREFACE

FoR the nature of the present work, no apology would
seem to be required. The personal aspect of history is
at once important for the proper appreciation of its lessons
and attractive to the majority of readers, and both con-
siderations go far to justify the existence of biographical
studies as a legitimate expression of the results of historical
research. For the immediate choice of subject some further
explanation may be required. Of the five Princesses of
the Royal House of Stuart' who form the subjects of this
volume, four were nearly related, and their lives find a
connecting link in the position in which they stood to
the succession to the throne of this country. Elizabeth of
Bohemia was the eldest daughter of King James I. and VI,
and the mother of the Electress Sophia, the illustrious
lady who was destined to become the acknowledged heiress
of the British Crown, and the ancestress of the present
Royal House. The Princess Mary of Orange, as the
daughter of Charles I. and the first Princess Royal of
England, while also the mother of William III., supplies
the link between the ancient family and the House of
Orange which immediately supplanted it. To the Princess

! Historically, the spelling ¢Stewart” was not superseded by ¢ Stuart”
till the 16th century, and it is, therefore, slightly inaccurate as applied to
the Princess Margaret of Scotland. In her biography, the older spelling
has been adopted, but “Stuart” has become so familiar in connexion with
the seventeenth century, that it seemed pedantic to depart from it as the
general title of the book.
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Henrietta,' the negotiator of the fatal Treaty of Dover,
which may be taken as the beginning of the Revolution
of 1688, there came the nemesis that her descendants, the
nearest branch of the Royal family, should, along with the
direct male line itself, be rendered incapable of the suc-
cession by those difficulties of religious faith in which the
secret clauses of the Treaty of Dover definitely involved
the restored Stuarts.

Not only is there in each life a point of contact with
the domestic struggle of the seventeenth century, but the
four princesses, as they appear on the stage of European
politics, supply almost a continuous history of the foreign
policy of this country. The life of Elizabeth of Bohemia
is a pathetic commentary on the attitude of James I. to
foreign affairs—wise and statesmanlike in his aims, but in-
capable of understanding how impossible was their reali-
zation. As the Thirty Years’ War became merely a duel
between France and Spain, the troubled monarchy of
Great Britain counted for less in the arbitrament of the
affairs of Europe; but the career of Mary of Orange illus-
trates at once the last despairing efforts of Charles 1. and
the policy of his uncrowned successor. Oliver Cromwell
and Mary of Orange disappeared together from the scene,
and, with the Restoration, the favourite sister of Charles II.,
and the beloved sister-in-law of Louis XIV., became an

! The following table shows the relationships of the four Princesses.
King James VI. and L

Charles 1. Elizabeth of Bohemia

Mary of Orange Henrietta of Orleans

Sophia of Hanover

George L
William III.
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important factor at a great crisis in the history of Europe.
For Great Britain, for Holland, for France and Germany
alike, the direct results of the Treaty of Dover were of
European importance; the English Revolution, the tempo-
rary greatness of the Dutch, and the rise of Prussia are
all connected with the struggle against the aggrandisement
of France, in the interests of which Louis sent Henrietta
to treat with King Charles. Finally, it was in the interests
of the Protestant Succession as represented by the Electress
Sophia, that Marlborough was sent to create the military
power of this country in the War of the Spanish Succes-
sion, and the alliance of the Hanoverian House was valued
alike by King William and by the advisers of Queen Anne.

In each of the four lives there is also much of personal
and social interest. The beautiful Queen of Bohemia, the
heroine of Protestant England, in whose behalf so many
English prayers were uttered and so many English lives
were spent, and Mary of Orange, whose life was almost
tragic in its long struggle and its brief triumph, alike possess
the interest of high-spirited and strenuous endeavour. The
story of the fascinating Henrietta, the centre of the Court of
the Bourbons at the moment when French prestige was
highest, affords us many glimpses of the life at Saint Cloud
and Versailles in the early years of Louis Le Grand, and
its pathetic, and, to contemporaries, mysterious ending con-
tributes the aspect of sadness and melancholy which was
inevitable in the life of a lady of the House of Stuart.
It may, at first, seem questionable whether Sophia, Elec-
tress of Hanover, by birth a Princess Palatine, and a
Guelph by marriage, could reasonably find a niche in a
gallery of Stuart Princesses; but the lady who unites the
elder with the younger branch, who, in virtue of her
Stuart blood, was declared Queen Anne's successor, and
from whose relationship to King James, the reigning sovereign
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of these realms, like his six immediate predecessors,
derives his claim under the Act of Settlement, may
surely be granted such a title. Sophia was, moreover, a
Stuart by birthright, and long before the English succes-
sion could have appeared possible for herself, she regarded
herself as an English Princess. Her lively memoirs and
her sprightly letters make her a real and vivid personality,
and illustrate the social and intellectual life of her period.

The remaining biography, which stands first in order of
date, it would be impossible to associate in any way
with those of which we have spoken. Nearly three hun-
dred years separate the birth of Margaret of Scotland and
the death of Sophia of Hanover. Nor is it possible to
connect the Princess Margaret with any great national
movement, as the other four may be connected with the
struggle for constitutional liberty. Her life possesses many
points of interest in the relationship of fifteenth-century
France and Scotland; it is one of those episodes in history
which can never fail to appeal to the imagination and to
the emotions; and it is a story little known. Only com-
mon Stuart blood and a common Stuart fate connect
Margaret with the seventeenth-century Princesses of her
House, and the short sketch of her life is included here
only because it is a convenient opportunity to relate a
story worth telling again.

How far this book has succeeded in taking due advan-
tage of the possibilities just indicated, it must be for read-
ers to decide. But the editor may be allowed to say, on
behalf of his contributors, that each biography has been
written after a careful study of authorities, contemporary
and modern. Each article aims at presenting its subject
in relation to the political and social circumstances in which
she was placed, and at producing a character-sketch which
may enable the reader to realize the personality of the
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lady whose life it narrates. But beyond this no attempt
has been made to obtain uniformity of treatment; each
author has been left to deal with his subject as might
best suit his conception of her character and the materials
at his disposal; and for every expression of opinion the
individual writer is solely responsible.

The books which have been found most useful are indi-
cated in the footnotes; but a general expression of grati-
tude may here be made to Mr. Gardiner’s great seven-
teenth-century history, and to the writings of two earlier
workers in the same field, Miss Strickland and Mrs. Everett-
Green. Fifty years have passed since these ladies published
their well-known books, and, in the interval, historical re-
search has not been silent; but to their industry and in-
sight all subsequent inquirers must owe much, even where
(as in the present instance) their interests are less purely
personal and domestic than were those of the authors of
the Lives of the Queens of Scotland and the Lives of the
Princesses of England.

To M. Alexis Larpent, grateful thanks are due for a
careful criticism of portions of the proof-sheets, and to the
Earl of Craven for kind permission to reproduce the por-
traits of Elizabeth of Bohemia and Henrietta of Orleans
from his collection of paintings at Combe Abbey.

RESLIRY

NEw COLLEGE, OXFORD,

October, 1901.






CONTENTS

Page
PREFAGE:: . ; .« = « o & o o0 % Sg “Tedi asisy

MARGARET, Daughter of James I. of Scotland, Dau-
phine” of France . . I
by Harold Edgeworth Butler, Lecturer of New
College, Oxford.

ELIZABETH OF BOHEMIA, Daughter of JamesI. and VI. 47
by R. H. Hodgkin, Lecturer of Queen’s College,
Oxford.

MaARY OF ORANGE, Daughter of Charles I. and
Motherr of William III. S L ANNE
by Algernon Cecil, BA New College

HENRIETTA OF ORLEANS, Daughter of Charles I. . 227
by John S. Cyprian Bridge, B.A., New College.

SopHiA OF HANOVER, Grand-Daughter of James I.
and VI, and Mother of George I.. . . . . . 287
by the Editor. '

s SR R R PO






LIST OF ILLUSTRATIONS

HENRIETTA OF ORLEANS . . . . . . . Frontispiece
From a.painting at Versailles.
TOMB OF THE PRINCESS MARGARET, Page
From a drawing in the Bodleian Library 7o face 43
ELIZABETH OF BOHEMIA,
From a painting by Honthorst, at Combe
Abbey . . .. . ... L U SR R
CHARLES Lours, ELECTOR PALATINE,
From an engraving in the Hope Collection,
Oaford . ... . . .. . 7. U St
MARY OF ORANGE,
From a painting by Hanneman, at Hamp-
ton Cotet . . | o . .« LI
HENRIETTA, (as a child)
From a painting by Vandyck, at Combe
Abbey. 1. . = el |8 g RS SN Sl o)
THE ELECTRESS SOPHIA,
From an engraving in the Hope Collection,
(0717 N R S - S A L oo
THE PRINCESS ELIZABETH,
From an engraving in the Hope Collection,
@xsford! . v B it S ERRE I e P EID0S
EL1ZABETH CHARLOTTE OF ORLEANS,
From an engraving in the Hope Collection,
@xfandy. i . 1| ool £ B B e T R 6












THE PRINCESS MARGARET OF SCOTLAND
DAUGHTER OF JAMES I.

Heu proh dolor! quod me oporteat scribere, quod dolenter
refero de ejus morte, cum mors eandem dominam brevi
dolore eripuit. Nam ego qui scribo haec vidi eam omni
die vivam cum rege Franciae et regina ludentem et per novem
annos sic continuantem. Postea vidi eam in casula plumbea
in ecclesia cathedrali civitatis Calonensis ad cornu magni
altaris ex parte boriali. Liber Pluscardensis.

AN enthusiastic Frenchman, in one of those eloquent and
rapid generalisations in which our neighbours so greatly
delight, has recently assured the world that the Scots are
the French of England. It is an opinion which perhaps
comes with somewhat of a shock of surprise to the benighted
Southron; but it is also perhaps a fanciful reminiscence,
not without its pathetic aspect, of the old days of the
Franco-Scottish alliance, when many a Scottish adven-
turer fought and died for France in desperate battle against
the common hereditary foe. But itis coloured with a senti-
mentality which should not be allowed to lead us too far
into the rosy mists of romance. For though in truth, from
the days of that most tragic of queens—who passed the
springtide of her life as queen of France, and for whom
in the stormy summer and autumn of her career, “many
drew swords and died,” nay, for whose honour historians
of to-day yet wage a scarcely less embittered conflict—
though from this epoch down through all the stirring
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Jacobite period resonant with the sound of half-hopeless
strife, and the laments of the weary who “never come to
their ain countrie,” there lies a warm glow of romance
over the relations of France and Scotland, in the earlier
days it is far otherwise. There is less of sentiment; the
alliance wears a sterner aspect.

There was in truth little in the severer genius of the Scot,
in his rugged moorlands, his wild hills, his stormy climate,
to attract the lively Latin nature, the warm spirit of the
South. Nay, if we may believe a French writer of the XVth
century, Ecosse la Sauvage was the favourite residence of
the Prince of Darkness, and it was thither that the would-be
sorcerer of the continent was sent to receive his marching
orders. It was in Scotland that Jean de Meun placed the
abode of Famine, while other writers rejoiced to trace a
fanciful resemblance between the Scots and Judas Iscariot,
though it is true that this comparison was based on physical
rather than on moral grounds. In fact, to leave the province
of the romancers, the picture given by Froissart may be
taken as representative of the foreign opinion concerning
this little known and much abused kingdom.' «En Ecosse
ils ne virent oncques nul homme de bien, et sont ainsi
comme gens sauvages, qui ne se savent avoir ni de nulli
acointer: et sont trop grandement envieux du bien d’autrui,
et si se doutent de leurs biens perdre, car ils ont un povre
pays. Et quant les anglais y chevauchent ou qu’ils y vont—
il convient que leurs pourveances, s’ils veulent vivre, les
suivent toujours au dos, car on ne trouve rien sur le pays.
A grand’ peine y recuevre l'on du fer pour ferrer les
chevaux ni du cuir pour faire harnois, selles ni brides. Les
choses toutes faites leur viennent par mer de Flandres et
quant cela leur defaut, ils n’ont nul chose.” (II. 128). And

! See also the picturesque and amusing experiences of Aeneas Sylvius as
narrated in “ Zke Romance of a King’s Life” by M. Jusserand.
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if to Froissart’s testimony we add the remarkable words
which St. Louis, as he lay ill at Fontainebleau, used towards
his son, we shall have said enough and may pass to matters
alike more palatable and more profitable. ‘ Mon fils,” cried
the King, “je te prie de te faire aimer du peuple de ton
royaume, car si tu devais mal le gouverner, j'aimerais
mieux qu'un Ecossais vint d’Ecosse et regnit i ta place.”
But if in the eyes of the peoples of the continent Scot-
land was the abode of devils, cursed with poverty and
starvation, if its inhabitants were regarded as little better
than savages, nevertheless it had also its value. The pro-
verbial disposition of the Scot to roam abroad was early
noticed by the peoples of the continent, as is testified by
du Cange’s comment on the words of St. Louis just quoted.
He refers to ““the strange humour of this nation which
delights so greatly in much travelling, that there is hardly
a kingdom in the world to which they have not spread in
large numbers.” And the same statement is reproduced in
more forcible if less polite language by Pierre de Jolle.

“Vous saurés qu'on dit en proverbe
Que d'Ecossais, de rats, de poux,
Ceux qui voyagent jusqu'au bout
Du monde, en recontrent partout.”

It was this roving tendency that in great part supplied
France with her trusty Scottish mercenaries, while it was
powerfully supplemented by the fact that in France, above
all other countries, it was possible to meet the hated English
on the field of battle.

It is therefore little to be wondered that the rulers of
France set a high value on the friendship and alliance of
Scotland; and, above all, this value was further enhanced by
the fact, that by timely demonstrations on the borders
Scotland had it in her power to weaken the English pres-
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sure upon France. And if France valued Scotland for this
reason, so also Scotland valued France. Thus a strong
bond of union sprang up between the two nations. Often
actually allied, their community of interests never suffered
them to drift far apart. However, it was pre-eminently a
utilitarian alliance: sentiment, if any, was to be found on
this side of the North Sea. But the fact of their close con-
nexion, and the importance popularly attached to it, is
clearly indicated by the proverb current in later days
throughout England.

“If that you would France win,
Then with Scotland first begin.”

The story of the Stewart princess, with which we are
here concerned, forms but a tragic episode in the history
of these close Franco-Scottish relations. It would seem as
though when one of the royal blood of Scotland left her own
land for a new dwelling in the friendly court of France,
by that very act a fresh curse, a new doom was called
down to increase the burden of the sorrowful inheritance
of that ill-starred house. Here, however, we have none
of the greater tragedies of history; it is a domestic rather
than a royal tragedy, and several of its acts have been
lost. Yet though it lack the stronger contrasts of light
and shade, which characterize some of the better known
calamities of the race of the Stewarts, it has something
about it of ‘pathetic light,” investing the slight outlines
of a brief story and the dimly seen figure of the un-
fortunate Dauphine with an interest which the scanty facts,
that have been handed down to us, perhaps scarcely
deserve.

It is not here our duty to chronicle the interesting
relations existing between Charles VII. and the Scotch
nobility who flocked to his assistance in the almost des-
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perate struggle against the armies of England. How wel-
come was their assistance appears from the fact that an
earl of Scotland, Archibald Douglas, who followed his
son-in-law the Earl of Buchan to France, backed by an
army of 10,000 Scots, was named lieutenant-general of the
armies of France and presented with the duchy of Touraine.
Moreover, in 1424 when the fortunes of France were at
their lowest ebb, and when the Constable of Buchan and
his kinsman, the new Duc de Touraine, lay dead upon the
field of Verneuil with the flower of the chivalry of France
and Scotland, Charles the VII. appears to have contem-
plated taking refuge from his inexorable and seemingly
invincible foes in that despised wilderness the kingdom of
Scotland. But although his cup of misfortune was not
yet full, though many years of hard fighting still lay before
him ere he should come to his own again, it was not
written in the book of destiny that he should be exiled
from the scanty realm that still remained to him.

The temporary rapprockement of Scotland and England
brought about by the restoration of James I. to his king-
dom, and ‘by his marriage to the beautiful and beloved
Jane Beaufort, seemed, it is true, a fatal blow to French
diplomacy, as far as Scotland was concerned. But in those
days no Anglo-Scottish rapprockement could hope to be
very durable; and it was with this in view, that Charles,
driven to desperation by the continual success of the armies
of England, and failing to find the assistance he had hoped
from Castile, took the momentous step with which
opens the first act of our domestic tragedy. In 1427, it
was decided to send an embassy to James I. of Scotland.
If the connection between the two countries had of late
been somewhat strained, its bonds might once more be
tightened by a marriage between the royal houses of
Stewart and Valois. The Dauphin, the future Louis XI.,
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was but two years older than Margaret, James' eldest
daughter. What could be more suitable than that by the
marriage of these two royal children—for at this point
Louis was but five years of age, Margaret but three—
should be renewed and strengthened, ‘‘the ancient alliances,
leagues, and compacts, existing between the two nations,
as far back as the time of the Emperor Charlemagne.”
The ambassadors chosen for this important mission were
three in number. First and foremost comes John Stewart
of Darnley, who alone of the great leaders of the auxiliary
army had survived the disasters of Verneuil and Cravant,
and the dreary series of battles by which they were suc-
ceeded. From the glorious field of Beaugé down to the
present time, he had given continual proof of his unswerving
fidelity to the French cause; and as a reward he had re-
ceived the titles of Seigneur of Aubigny and Count of
Evreux—though it must be observed that Evreux was still
at this time in the hands of the English. Further, in February
1428, just before his departure on this mission, he had been
honoured with the yet more glorious privilege of quarter-
ing the arms of France on his own escutcheon. He, Con-
stable of the Scots in France, headed the embassy to his
native land, where he had left “wife and children that
he might remain in the service of France.” But such a
delicate task was not to be entrusted to the sole direction
of a skilled and trusted warrior. Two tried diplomatists
were given him as colleagues, Regnault de Chartres, arch-
bishop of Rheims, and Alain Chartier, the poet, ¢the father
of French eloquence.” It was, as M. Jusserand points out
in his charming little work, ‘“The Romance of a King's
life,” far from unusual to employ poets as ambassadors.
Where the honeyed words of the poet had failed to effect
the desired result, who could hope to succeed? Conse-
quently, Alain Chartier preceded his colleagues to Scotland
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to strew the path of the statesman with the flowers of
eloquence.

Once arrived at the court of Scotland he delivered a
solemn oration. It was a wonderful piece of work. It
may raise a smile on the face of the modern reader: it is
true that it is stilted, full of conceits of language, tricks
of formal logic, and ridiculous etymologies; but it has
nevertheless a certain dignity of its own, a swing and
rhythm of diction and a genuine pathos, which it would
be affectation to ignore. Stripping it of all its absurdities
it remains as a noble panegyric of the two nations. He
recalls the antiquity of the Franco-Scottish alliance, written
not on parchment, but ‘“graven on the hearts, on the
living flesh of men: its characters are traced not in ink,
but in blood.” He proceeds to render the most splendid
homage to the true and enduring loyalty of Scotland towards
her suffering neighbour. He touches on the prospects of
ultimate success. ‘“Jam divina misericordia,” he cries, “in
melius dedit,” and concludes with a pathetic asseveration
of his trust in the everlasting mercies of God. He will
not abandon His faithful people, “that house dedicated to
the Lord, that nation which is so profoundly religious, so
steeped in humility, piety and justice.”

He had done his work well. Half bound though he was
to England, James was moved by considerations of the
soundest statesmanship, and touched perhaps by Alain’s
delicate allusion to the political situation—he had quoted
Ecclesiasticus, “ne derelinquas amicum antiquum, novus
enim non erit similis illi.”” He received the ambassadors of
Charles VII. with all the pomp and splendour of which he
was capable. They were sumptuously entertained at Lin-
lithgow, fairest of “Scotland’s royal dwellings,” and on the
17th of July, 1428, Henry Lichtoun, bishop of Aberdeen,
Sir Patrick Ogilvy, “justicier d'Ecosse,” and Edward of
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Lawder, archdeacon of Lothian, were appointed to treat
with the French ambassadors on the questions at issue.
On the same day a treaty was signed, by which James
bound himself to respect the ancient alliances existing
between France and Scotland, and two days later, on the
1gth of July, it was arranged that Margaret should become
the bride of Louis, Dauphin de Viennois, that the King of
Scotland should provide for her escort to France, and that
she should be accompanied thither by an army of 6,000
men. The one point that remained to be settled was the
nature and amount of the dowry of the infant princess.
The Scots demanded for her, the province of Saintonge,
and exacting though the demand was, and provocative of
some discontent, it was finally acceded to in November 1428,
though always with the reservation, that it should not be
carried into effect save only on condition of the promised
military contingent. A few days previous to this arrange-
ment, a formal treaty had been agreed upon, certain of
the terms of which are worth noticing. For among other
less significant details it contained the callous proviso that
“if the Dauphin died before the consummation of the
marriage, the second son of the king—God granting him
one—should take Margaret for his wife, and so on until
the marriage should finally be realised.” In like manner,
should Margaret die, one of her sisters should be substituted,
although in this case the French king reserved to himself
the right of choosing his daughter-in-law.' Truly, if the
marriage of the poet king and Jane Beaufort, the heroine
of the “King's Quair,” forms one of those rare instances of
a royal marriage in which true love rather than cold political

1 Tt was actually proposed in 1445 that Eleanor, Margaret’s sister, then in
France, should in due time marry the widowed Dauphin. The refusal of the
Pope to permit this union, and Louis’ strong opposition to this proposal
caused it, however, to be dropped.
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considerations formed the most potent factor, a nemesis was
to overtake the royal pair in the marriage of their daughter
whom they had bartered away in such a heartless fashion.

The unhappy child, according to the terms of the treaty,
was apparently to have sought her new home and boy-
husband oversea in the course of the following year. In-
deed we read in the English State Papers, that the English
Government actually equipped a force to intercept the
Scottish fleet which was to transport the auxiliary army
and the Dauphin’s betrothed to the shores of France. But
for various reasons, some years were allowed to elapse
before the treaty was in any way to be carried into effect.

Not the least of these reasons was the miraculous inter-
vention of Joan of Arc, which rendered the advent of the
Scottish Army unnecessary, and thereby spared France the
much grudged cession of the province of Saintonge. And
it may well be imagined that James and his Queen readily
laid hold of any excuse to retain their little daughter in
that home, that charming family circle, of which such pic-
turesque accounts have reached us. Indeed Joan of Arc
seems to have come near saving Margaret from her martyr-
dom. For while Charles VII. ceased to have any pressing
need of Scottish assistance, James was deeply occupied in
the reorganisation of his distracted kingdom, in the repres-
sion of the feuds and tumults of the Highlands and the
not less disturbed border districts. Further, since the 6,000
Scots were not to sail for France, England and Scotland
might still be considered at peace, and in 1429 James
renewed his negotiations with the English government.

In the following year attempts were made to induce
James to break definitely with France, and it was only
the sturdy opposition of the Scottish prelates which availed
to prevent the attempt from succeeding. As it was, in
1430 the truce between the two countries had been renewed
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for five years, and during this period of truce the bonds
uniting the two governments were being gradually tightened,
until finally in 1433 and 1434 English ambassadors were
charged to open negotiations for a marriage between the
King of England and a daughter of James I.

It now became imperative for Charles VII. to intervene.
The interests of France were gravely threatened, and without
prompt action the treaty of 1428 would have become a dead
letter. Accordingly, in the early winter of 1433, we find
two French ambassadors at the Scottish court. They declar-
ed that while_ it was true that their master’s affairs had
become more prosperous, and that therefore he was enabled
to dispense with the armed assistance of Scotland, he still,
however, longed to behold the realisation of the marriage
and begged that the princess might be sent to France
without delay.

James was now in rather an embarrassing situation. He
had promised his daughter to the Dauphin, but his paternal
affection and the present state of his relations with England
urged him to refuse. He received the ambassadors coldly.
“] am ready,” he replied, “to fulfil my engagements. I
will send armed assistance to France the instant that it is
desired. But my daughter is yet of tender years, and it
is rude and wintry weather.” Nay, he proceeded, there
were rumours that another alliance was intended for the
Dauphin, and it would be well that all the doubts thus
cast on the good faith of France should be cleared away.
As for his own negotiations with England, they need in
nowise prejudice the alliance of 1428. But for financial
difficulties, he would gladly give the English such cause for
anxiety, that France would have little more to fear from
them. But while he himself was always ready to fulfil his
engagements, he desired to be reassured as to the intentions
of the French King, and the drift of his policy with the
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least possible loss of time. Further delay must prejudice
either cause, ‘perhaps to an even greater extent than Charles
was aware.

Such was the barely courteous message with which the
French ambassadors returned to their master. For unknown
reasons, it took some six months to reach Charles. On its
arrival, however, he realised the necessity of speedy action,
and after hurried consultation of his council he selected
Regnault Girard, Seigneur de Bazoges, and a Scottish
gentleman named Hugh Kennedy, as ambassadors to the
Scottish court. A curious account of the mission by the
hand of the Seigneur de Bazoges still survives in the National
Library at Paris. He, poor soul, fearing, not without just
cause, the winter voyage, did his best to rid himself of his
distasteful task. The embassy was, he pointed out, ‘“bien
dangereuse et périlleuse.” To escape the perils of the sea
he continued, “I was prepared to give four hundred crowns
to him that would take my place as ambassador, and
I had hoped that the King would consent thereto.” But
Charles was not unnaturally obdurate, and the reluctant
ambassador set sail “not without tears and mourning.”

His fears were to be realised. At an early stage in their
voyage they were caught by a ‘“marvellous great whirl-
wind,” and driven westward into the pitiless ocean for
five days and five nights. At last, the storm subsiding
for a while, they succeeded in reaching the coast of
Ireland, where yet once more they were to be delayed
five days by ‘the said whirlwind.” This time they were
sheltered by a “very high and marvellous rock named
Ribon, which is the most westerly of all lands and whereon
no living thing dwelleth.” Thus they escaped serious
damage, and at length, after a dreary, if not unexciting
voyage of 56 days, they arrived at the port of Dumbarton
on the 8th of January, 1435. Hence they were escorted by
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a whole host of Kennedys, whom Girard’s companion had
summoned to do them honour, to the court James was
holding at Edinburgh. There they were worthily received
and set forth their mission. There was no such dramatic
scene as is depicted in Drummond’s History of Scotland,
where Lord Scrope and Regnault Girard are represented
as declaiming against each other in the best Thucydidean
manner and the most flowing Elizabethan style. It was in
reality a prosaic business. After declining with thanks the
renewed offer of six thousand men, (an offer the acceptance
of which would involve the unpalatable surrender of Saintonge,)
they made due apologies for the tardiness of their master
Charles VII. in resuming the question of the stipulated
marriage.

“The King,” they urged, “had been too much occupied
with wars and with the organisation of men and supplies,
and so great were the difficulties and dangers of the
voyage, that not only was it hard to find ambassadors, but
even ships and mariners capable of such an enterprise.
He knew well that so small and undistinguished an em-
bassy was scarcely adequate for so great an occasion, but
the great Lords and Princes of France were engaged in
operations of war, and it had been impossible for France
to provide a sufficient escort for the future Dauphine, owing
to the difficulty of procuring warships. But the King prayed
that the Dauphine might be sent to her new home as soon
as possible, at least not later than the approaching summer.
Meanwhile these his ambassadors would discuss the best
means of securing a passage safe from the perils of the sea
and the English warships.”

James hesitated. The family life of the greatest of the
Stewarts was a loving one, and for the period forms a
most edifying spectacle. He interposed delay. ‘He could
not,” he said, “come to any conclusion for the present.
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He must first come to an understanding with the Queen,
before he could further discuss the matter.” He therefore
put off the ambassadors for a month, bidding them meet
him on February the 21st at St. Johnston. [Perth]. There they
found James, the Queen and the little princess herself; and
there, after some five days’ discussion, was signed a not
very conclusive convention. The Dauphine was to sail for
France by the following May; she was to have an escort
of 2,000 Scots, and a fleet, which if the King of France
had need of their services, would remain at his disposal.'®

But James was exacting in his demands, and the anxiety
which he displayed for the future happiness of his little
daughter is quite touching, more especially when we con-
sider that incidentally these demands meant that he would
have a year more of her company. For he showed himself
most solicitous. A town of her own, garrisoned and com-
manded by Scotsmen, must be allotted to her; her servants
and her ladies-in-waiting must be Scottish; although he
admitted that she must be served by French attendants
“pour lui apprendre son estat et les maniéres par deld,”
and must move in the circles of the French court; more-
over, Scotland could not provide transports for the two
thousand auxiliaries in addition to the vessels of war
already promised. He therefore begged that Charles would
provide the necessary transport and, in addition, to make
security doubly secure, send a galley fully equipped with
rowers and crossbowmen.

Now Regnault and his comrades had no powers to grant
such sweeping demands, and it was necessary to refer to
the French court for further instructions. The month of
May passed and no instructions arrived. James therefore,
to his great delight, induced Girard to postpone the depar-

! Probably a last effort on the part of James to secure the province of
Saintonge for his daughter.
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ture of the Dauphine until the zoth of September. At last,
however—probably in the month of July—the long-expected
despatches arrived. Charles acceded to the greater part of
James’ demands. But he was silent about the proposed
Scottish household for the Dauphine, and demurred entirely
to the suggestion that a French town should be assigned
to the Princess. It seemed to him to be neither “chose
honneste ni convenable’, that she should reside other-
where than at the French court. The queen would treat
her as her own daughter. No other arrangement could
even be considered.

Accordingly, on September the 12th, the French fleet
arrived off Dumbarton, bearing yet further despatches from
the French King. He was clearly—small blame to him—
becoming impatient. Without expressing any doubt of the
good faith of the Scottish King, he protested strenuously
against further delay. Once more he asserted that he and
his queen would treat Margaret as if she were “leur fille
charnelle”, but added to this assertion a firm protest
against the suggestion that a Scottish household should
accompany the princess. It was indeed a very wise and
necessary protest. At least, continued the French King,
there should not be more than two or three Scotswomen
and as many men. Otherwise, to quote Charles’ actual
words, “Tant qu'elle aura avec elle des gens de sa nation,
elle ne apprendra volontiers frangoys, ou I'estat de ce roy-
aume.”’

James, however, was not to be beaten, and astounded the
French envoys by calmly proposing further procrastination.
The French fleet, he pointed out, had been very late in
its arrival, appearing barely a week before the date fixed
for the departure of the Dauphine. The season was approach-
ing when “all marriage between persons of high sta-
tion is forbidden.” And not only etiquette, but also the



THE PRINCESS MARGARET OF SCOTLAND 17

weather stood in the way. The queen would never suffer
her daughter to be exposed to the perils of the wintry sea.
Did not Regnault Girard, Seigneur de Bazoges, remember
his own experiences at sea? The tables were turned. What
more could be said? Girard had reluctantly to give way,
to consent to a further postponement till the month of
February, and face the prospect of wintering in * Ecosse
la sauvage”’.

James’ canniness had conquered all along the line, and
the father’'s heart was gratified by a year more of life
blest by the presence of the little princess. Neither father
nor daughter were to drink much longer of the well of
happiness, nor either to meet again this side the grave.
“Clouds and darkness closed upon Camelot.” The king
was to perish, but a few months after her departure, by
the hand of the assassin. His daughter was to become
the wife of a “heartless ruler of men,” and to die of a
broken heart, maligned and slandered, in the flower of
her youth, far from her own country; and all that is left
to record the early life of Margaret Stewart and the love
her father bore to her, are the dry bones of state papers,
which are perhaps at times clothed with a thin phantom
of flesh and blood. Through all their stiff formalities we
may at times trace not merely the working of the states-
man’s brain, but the naive reluctance of parental affection.

The winter passed quickly by, and February the appointed
month arrived. James could not with decency much longer
postpone his child’s departure, and summoned Girard and
his comrades to a farewell banquet at St. Johnston. The
following day they were once more summoned to the royal
presence. Regnault shall tell what took place in his own
words :

“Then did the said king and queen of Scotland bid

my said lady the Dauphine come into their presence, and
2
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spoke to her many fair words and notable, telling her of
the high place of the prince to whom she was to be es-
poused and exhorting her to bear herself in all things
well. And God knoweth how great weeping there was
on both sides. This done we took our leave, and the said
king, for the honour of the King of France, his said brother,
bade me, Regnault Girard, to kiss the queen; and she of
her great courtesy and humility did the like by me, which
I esteem the greatest honour that hath ever befallen me.
And thereupon we took our departure. And on the follow-
ing day the king sent great presents to us in our said
lodging at St. Johnstoun, and it must not be forgotten
that from the time when we arrived in the said kingdom
of Scotland and came before him in his town of Edinburgh
—Jan. 2z5th, 1434, ' down to the time when we took leave
of him in the said palace of St. Johnstoun—Feb. 1435—
he defrayed and paid our expenses in whatever part of
the said kingdom we might be.”

From Perth the ambassador proceeded to Dumbarton to
prepare for the departure of the princess, and there he re-
mained on board his ship for 15 days and endured “de
grans malaises”. The king still delayed. At last, how-
ever, the incorrigible procrastinator appeared, and was wel-
comed by Girard with gifts of a charming simplicity, con-
cerning which the ambassador writes with an equally delight-
ful naiveté. During the 15 days of “little ease”, a ship
had arrived from France bearing “un mulet bien gent,
que j’avoye faict venir par le conseil de mondict seigneur
de Vendosme, qui le me conseilla, quant il me mist 4 la
mer, car il avait vue le mulet a la Rochelle, et pour donner
au dict Roy d’Escosse; lequel mulet je lui feys presenter
et en fut molt joyeux, et fut chose bien estrange par del3,

1 Old style.
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Et aussi feys présenter a la dicte Reyne d’Escosse trois
pipes plaines de fruict, tant grosses chataignes poyres et
pommes de diverses maniéres, pource qu'il n'en y a nulz;
et aussi six pipes de vin, de quoy la reyne fust bien con-
tente, car de par dela il y a bien peu de fruict.”

These courtesies over, James, ever solicitous for the
comfort of his child, demanded that the fleet should put
out to sea, in order that he might see which vessel was the
swiftest and possessed the best equipment. To the deep
disgust of the French sailors, who were barely restrained
from mutiny, a Spanish ship was chosen as most suitable,
and at last, on the 27th of March—little more than a
month late, which perhaps was creditable to all concerned—
the Dauphine embarked. The king embraced his daughter
for the last time; but now that the time of parting was
indeed come, he felt that delay meant no longer joy, but
merely pain. “Le Roy n'y demeura longuement, mais s’en
alla a grans pleurs, du regret de madicte dame la dauphine
sa fille.” So we take leave of James, most human of kings,
weeping bitterly over the last sight of his little daughter.

So also, some hundred years later, departed a little Scot-
tish princess to become Dauphine of France, a princess
whose fate was sadder far than that of Margaret, but whose
sojourn in France was the sole happy portion of her life.

“ Adieu, charmant pays de France,
Que je dois tant cherir,
Berceau de mon heureuse enfance,
Adieu, te quitter c'est mourir.”

What Mary might have said of France, Margaret might
well have said of Scotland. She was leaving a court in
which life was, for that age, comparatively blameless; for
if James was a Stewart in all else, as regards his family
life, he was a shining example to the generality of Stewart
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princes. She was leaving a household where the level of
culture was high, where natural affection reigned supreme.
She was seeking a court in a strange land ruled by a king,
who was ruled in turn by his mistresses, graced by the
presence of a neglected queen, and distracted by the
darkest intrigues, in which the Dauphin was some years
later to play not the least prominent part. The contrast
was in every way a melancholy one. And, moreover, the
poor child was no longer of such tender years as not to
feel the full pang of parting. In truth it would have been
kinder if James had performed his part of the original
treaty of Chinon with alacrity, and the child had left him
while she was yet too young to feel the full significance of
the change.

Perils other than the ordinary perils of the deep awaited
the Dauphine on her passage to France. A fleet of an
hundred and eighty English vessels lay in wait for the little
French fleet, as it steered towards La Rochelle with its
precious burden. The English government harboured a not
unnatural indignation at what it must have regarded as the
perfidious conduct of the king of Scotland, and was still
smarting under its diplomatic defeat. But in a happy hour
a fleet of Flemish vessels laden with wine hove in sight.
The spectacle was too tempting for the English sailors.
They left their post and sailed in pursuit of that all too attrac-
tive cargo, and the enemy, whom they had been destined
to intercept, crept by and moored safely in the little har-
bour of La Palisse in the Isle of Ré. It has been asserted
that the voyage was full of great perils from wind and
wave, and that the poor child reached the shores of France
more dead than alive. But Girard disposes of the fable,
“My said lady,” he writes, ““had—God be thanked—fair
weather and a good passage.” But a good passage in this
case meant precisely three weeks, as the fleet sailed on
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March the 27th and did not arrive till the 17th of April;
so that all concerned may well have been weary of the
voyage. ’

The following day the squadron proceeded to an ancho-
rage at Chef du Bois, within a league of La Rochelle, but
it was not till the 19th of April that the Dauphine set
foot on dry land. She was received in great state by the
king’s chancellor, Regnault de Chartres, and other high
officials, and was conducted to the priory of Nieul, hard
by La Rochelle, to take what must have been a much
needed repose. For a twenty-one days’ voyage in the very
primitive ships of the XVth century, must have been no small
tax on the strength of a child of twelve. At last, on the
3rd of May, she made her state entry into La Rochelle,
and proceeded on her way to meet her boy-husband and
the long-suffering King of France. At length the long-
postponed marriage was to take place. June 25th was fixed
as the date, and the ceremony was to be performed in the
Cathedral of Tours.

The Dauphine met with a loyal reception ez route, notably
at Poitiers, where crowds came out to meet her, and, to
crown all, a child disguised as an angel was let down from
the portal of the city and placed a wreath upon the head
of “my said lady. Which thing was very genteelly and
cunningly performed.” Laden with rich presents—Poitiers
alone had bestowed upon her silver plate worth two thou-
sand “livres Tournois’—the princess arrived at Tours on
the 24th of June, the eve of her wedding-day. Details
of her entry have descended to us. A richly. caparisoned
palfrey bore her, and she was followed by a number of
French and Scottish lords and ladies. On her reaching
the gateway the Lords of Maillé and Gamaches advanced
to meet her on foot, seized the palfrey’s reins and so con-
ducted her to the royal castle, Dismounting at the gate



22 FIVE STUART PRINCESSES

she was escorted by the Earl of Orkney and the Comte
de Vendbéme, one on either side, to the foot of the great
hall of the castle, which had been hung for the occasion
with rich tapestries of Blois. There the Queens of France
and Sicily, together with the Princess Radegonde, soon to
be her sister-in-law, awaited her. Her two attendant earls
now left her side, and Yolande of Aragon—Queen of
Sicily—and the Princess Radegonde took their place and
so led her to the Queen, who, rising from the dafs, went
forward to meet her, and, taking her in her arms, embraced
her tenderly.

At this point the young Dauphin, attended by a multitude
of knights and squires, made an appropriate entry, timed to
the moment. The Dauphine was officially informed of his
arrival and advanced towards him. Thereupon the two
children—to quote the words of the old French chronicler
—¢“s’entrebaisérent et accolérent, et puis retournérent
devers la Reyne.” These stiff formalities then came to a
close, and the Queen taking the two children with her to
her own apartments, richly adorned with cloth of gold,
they ‘“played together until it was time for supper.”

The king himself did not arrive till the following day
“ung peu avant la benisson.” But if his arrival was late,
he lost not a moment more, and hurried at once to see
the daughter-in-law whose very existence he must almost
have come to regard as visionary. He entered her cham-
ber and found her being arrayed for the ceremony. Appar-
ently he was in no wise disappointed in her appearance;
for, says Girard, “le roy fut moult joyeux et bien content
de sa personne.” But he had little time for an interview,
for the ceremony was just about to commence; nay, he
had not time to robe himself for the occasion, but attended
booted and spurred, his grey travelling dress showing dull
amid the blaze of colour. For all others were in royal
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attire, and the little Dauphine was clad in ‘“raiment most
wonderful, precious and splendid. She was of comely
figure and exceeding fair countenance.” It was,” says
another chronicler, ¢ moult belle chose de voir les paremens
et abillemens, en quoi elle estoit, les quelles elle avoit ap-
portez de son pais.”” A long robe flowed from her shoul-
ders and a crown of gold was about her head; while on
that day her young husband was presented with the ¢“sword
of the King of Scotland,” as it was known in after days,
on the hilt of which were figures of the Virgin and St. Michael.

After these' solemnities ‘“grant fut la feste.” The com-
pany were divided between two tables. At the upper
table were seated the king, the two queens, the Dauphine,
and the archbishop of Rheims, with the Earl of Orkney
and the great lords of France; while at the lesser table
the Dauphin entertained the Scottish nobles. The little
bride and bridegroom were thus at the very outset of
their wedded life separated from one another. What eti-
quette now forced upon the Dauphin, inclination was in
after years to render easy and habitual. It might be taken
as an omen of the Dauphine’s brief and joyless career.
However, at present all was happiness. All dishes that
the art of man could devise were to be found at the ban-
quet: numberless heralds and pursuivants lent colour to
the scene, while a veritable concert continued to the close;
minstrels and players of “clarions and trumpets, with enough
of lutes and psalteries” made music for the guests, and
perhaps also in the midst of the softer music of the south
rang the shrill music of the bagpipes. For was not “Jean
Fary, natif d'Escosse, menestrel du roi notre sire,” in
France at this period? In the words of Jean Chartier, “to
say sooth there was made great and good cheer.”

1 A special dispensation from the Pope had been necessary owing to
the tender age of the children.
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And now, as far as our authorities are concerned, there
comes a blank in Margaret’s life. There are a few scant
notices and then complete silence. It is true that hitherto
the story has been simply the history of the moves of a
mere pawn in the game of politics. Personal touches have
of necessity been lacking: such colour as may have in-
vested the person of our heroine has been almost entirely
reflected. But now we bid adieu to the picturesque if
slightly tedious narrative of our good friend Regnault Girard,
and our path for the next seven or eight years is lit only
by very occasional gleams of light from the pages of Jean
Chartier, Matthieu de Coucy, and here and there a state
paper. Not till the tragic close of her life is a strong
light cast once more upon this fragile and fleeting figure.

But we must return to our narrative, even if only to
stumble in our goings. For the present the Dauphin and
his bride were completely separated. It was not till 1438"
that the two, being now of marriageable age, consummated
their marriage at Gien-sur-Loire. In the meantime Mar-
garet remained at the court. Her Scottish attendants for
the most part returned to their native land. Some, how-
ever, remained behind and married into French families,
while, according to a writer of the XVIIth century, there
was a regular emigration of Scottish ladies to France (a
hundred and fifty is the reported number) desirous of follow-
ing the royal example and securing French husbands. Her
early life must have been comparatively happy. All author-
ities agree that Charles and his wife were greatly attracted
by the child, and treated her with the utmost kindness.
Even to this day survive records of the gifts made by
Charles to his daughter-in-law, from a costly mirror presented
in 1437 to a gift of 2,000 livres tournois for silks and fans,

! Louis being then sixteen years of age, and Margaret fourteen.
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for which we have Margaret’s receipt, signed but a month
before her death.

But, from the very first, sorrows were to overcast her
life. In 1436 her father was assassinated at Perth and
Scotland lost the best and greatest of all her kings; and
in 1438 her married life began. It was unblest and full
of unhappiness. Young as he was, the Dauphin had been
caught up by the turbulent whirlwind of those stormy
times into which he was born. He had in the very year
of his marriage followed the king in his travels and his
wars. In that very year he began to play an important
part in the affairs of France, and we find him leading
armies if only in name. And by the close of 1439, when
he was yet but 17 years of age, he is found at the head
of a rebellion' against his father. But if Charles had
provoked this revolt by an unseemly lack of energy, he
now acted with commendable vigour. Stung by the unfil-
ial conduct ‘of his son, he put himself at the head of his
troops, and conducted the campaign with such success, that
in 1440 we find the back of the rebellion broken, and the
undutiful Dauphin suing for pardon from his injured father.

Among the various requests made by the penitent prince,
there is one only which especially concerns us. ¢ Since
henceforth it is suitable and proper that my lady should
be more continually with the Dauphin than heretofore, may
it please the king to provide for the expenses of his son’s
estate, and that of Madame la Dauphine.” Charles’ reply
was dignified. *“When Monseigneur le Dauphin will
come before the king in all humility as he ought, the king
will treat him as his only son, and will provide for his
estate and that of Madame la Dauphine in such a manner
as should fully content him.” We may probably conclude

! The well-known Praguerie.
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from this that the Dauphine had not followed her husband in
his rebellious escapades. But in any case it is clear that
Louis’ mind was quite sufficiently occupied with political
intrigue at this early stage in his career to explain, though
in no wise to excuse, his indifference towards his bride.
And although now civil war for the time being ceased,
though Dauphiné and a liberal revenue had been assigned
to the repentant prince, there was still much to occupy
him. Unhappy France was still disturbed by the slowly
dying embers of the Hundred Years’ War, and there
were other expeditions, in which the Dauphin bore a not
inconspicuous part. Switzerland and Lorraine, and the
walls of beleaguered Metz all saw him at the head of
armies. Rarely can the duties of royalty have descended
so soon, or with so heavy a burden, on the shoulders of
a prince.

But in addition to all this, he was without his due share
of natural affection; nature had made him a ruler of
men, and the turbulence of the arena, into which he made
so early an entry, served only to increase his heartlessness.
And when he was not engaged in the duties of his high
position, he was occupied in making use of its opportunities,
and burrowing underground to sap the power of others,
even of his father. There was nothing straightforward
about him, he was secret and tortuous. He can have seen
but little of his bride, and those brief hours which he spent
in her company brought him but little pleasure. It is true
that we have what purport to be his own words of lamen-
tation for the Dauphine’s death, but he was supreme among
hypocrites, and we shall see cause to view his grief with
deep distrust. We may reject alike the courtly statements
of chroniclers that tell us of the great love he bore his
wife, and the very different assertion of a late English
chronicler, that ‘the lady Margaret, maryed to the Dolphin,
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was of such nasty complexion and evil savoured breath that
he abhorred her company as a clean creature doth a
caryon.” There is, however, small doubt that the Dauphin
had the strongest aversion for his wife. He was not only
indifferent, but faithless to her, since he had at least
one natural daughter during her life-time. We may abide
by the words of Commynes: ‘“He married a daughter
of Scotland to his displeasure, and as long as he lived
regretted it.”

If, however, there was much that was sad in her brief
life, it was not wholly bitter. She was young, beautiful,
well-formed and, according to de Coucy, who is quoting
from contemporary evidence, “provided and adorned with
all those good conditions and advantages that a noble and
exalted lady might well have.”

Nor had she personal beauty only to render her attractive.
To render herself worthy to be a French Princess and in
days to come perchance a Queen, and doubtless also to
drown her private griefs, she devoted herself to literature.
She had studied French to good effect, and inheriting a
portion of her father’s poetic gifts, perhaps directly inspired
by him in her infancy with a love of poetry on those
winter evenings when James read aloud to his family by
the fireside, she wrote roundels and ballads in the language
of her adopted country and would spend whole nights in
their composition, the passion of poetry driving away fatigue.
Perhaps she formed the centre of a small literary circle at
the French court,' but we cannot tell: all that we know is

! The long-accepted story of her invitation of the poetess Clotilde de
Surville to the French court, of the latter’s refusal in verse, and the gift of
the laurel crown surmounted with 12 marguerites, in silver and gold, bearing
the inscription ¢ Marguerite d’Ecosse & Marguerite de Helicon,” is undoubt-
edly false. The poetess is a figment and the whole story is part and parcel
of a clever forgery devised to explain certain archaistic poems—perhaps by
M. de Surville (died 1798)—published in 1803.
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that among her immediate attendants she found rival poet-
esses.’ And it is in connexion with this love of literature,
that the best known and the most beautiful of the anecdotes
of this princess has descended to us. Like so many
picturesque episodes in history, it has recently been
proved to be entirely fictitious, for the excellent reason
that its hero, our old acquaintance, Alain Chartier, was
dead before Margaret set foot in France; but no history
of the Dauphine would be complete without this beautiful
legend. ¢ She loved greatly,” says Bouchet, in his Chroni-
cles of Aquitaine, “the orators of the common speech,
and among them Master Alain Chartier, who is the father
of French eloquence, and whom she held in high esteem,
by reason of the fair and excellent works that he had
composed. So that one day while she passed by a hall
where the said Master Alain lay asleep upon a bench,
she kissed him before all the company. But he that was
escorting her took it ill, and said, ‘Madame, I am amazed
that you have kissed this man, that is so ugly.’ / For in
sooth he had not a fair countenance. Whereat she made
answer: ‘It was not the man I kissed, but that precious
mouth from which so many excellent words and virtuous

speeches have proceeded’”. Baseless though the story
be, it was an answer worthy of a Stewart princess and a
poetess.

Margaret was in fact a woman of rare qualities. If she
had the talents of her race, she had also its romantic
temperament, perhaps some of its folly. For hearing that
a simple squire, who had greatly distinguished himself in
a tourpament, lacked means to help him on the career for
which gallantry and martial skill seemed to destine him,

1 There actually exists a beautiful rondeau by Jeanne Filleul, or otherwise
Jeanne Filloque, maid-of-honour to the Dauphine; but none of Margaret's
writings have survived. (Vide Le Roux de Lincy’s Femmes Cilébres.)
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she sent him a large gift of money.' Such was the manner
in which she took her pleasure; to religious exercises also
she gave great attention, as was natural in a deserted and
injured lady of imaginative temperament. But her charms,
her rank and talent, were not sufficient to save her from
evil report. The court of France lacked the simplicity and
purity of the court of James the First. Chastity was not
one of the virtues of Charles VII. or his son, and during
the last year of Margaret’s life Agnes Sorel ruled the heart,
and perhaps was beginning to rule the policy of the French
King. The Dauphin preferred the excitements of war and
intrigue to the calm of domestic life; and the relations of
France and Scotland had become less intimate during the
stormy childhood of James the Second. She seemed drift-
ing further still from the home of her childhood, while her
striking personality and her unhappy relations with her
husband inspired that interest which goes always hand in
hand with scandal. Yet the few glimpses we are permitted
of Margaret’s life before the final tragedy are pleasant
and attractive. In 1441 she was at last granted to set
eyes once more upon one of her sisters. For though history
is silent, we cannot reasonably doubt that she took part
in the festivities at the marriage of her sister Isabella to
the Duke of Brittany in the autumn of 1441; but the first
certain information that we possess of her movements dates
nearly three years later. On the 1st of May, 1444, we see
her, at Montils les Tours, go forth accompanied by the
Queen of France and a vast concourse of lords and ladies
to “bring in May.” Later in the same year we find her
moving in the brilliant court of Nancy, and attending the

! Duclos says 300 crowns. But in the depositions given in the inquiry of
1446 we hear that she borrowed 600 crowns, apparently for a similar purpose,
thereby causing some scandal. It is more than probable that these two incidents
should be identified. .
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nuptials of Margaret of Anjou and our own Henry the
Sixth.

France had not known the splendours of a genuine court
for many years. Now there was truce with England, and
the simplicity born of hard times gave way to the half-
forgotten etiquette of the court. The king held once more
the «fétes du roi” that the Carolingian kings and even
their fainéant predecessors had held of old. At Easter,
Pentecost, All Saints’ Day and Christmas, the king held his
‘“cour pléniére.” At each “féte” robes of State were
distributed to the princes and the high officers of the King’s
court and household, that each one might shine in appropriate
splendour; while the king himself on each occasion appeared
in fresh apparel, with all the emblems of royalty. Heralds
crying thrice, *“Largesse! Largesse! Largesse!” cast handfuls
of money to the crowd admitted to the hall; musicians
and jugglers made amusement for the court, and masques
and mysteries provided entertainment till far into the night,
when the guests retired each the richer for a present from
the royal liberality. Here Margaret shone with a brief
brilliance, a brilliance that perhaps ultimately had a consider-
able share in causing her death, and that certainly only
serves to show off in a sharper and darker outline the
tragedy so soon to centre round her. The court remained
at Nancy till the 1gth of March, 1445, when its festivities
were rudely cut short by the death of Radegonde, the
king's daughter, whom we have seen assisting at the splendid
ceremonies of Tours in 1436. She was the first member
of the royal house whom Margaret had met, and she was
younger even than her sisterin-law, who was in the space
of a few months’ time to follow her to the grave.

The court broke up, and the Queen, the Dauphin, and
Margaret departed for Chéilons-sur-Marne, which they reached
upon the 4th of May. There they were shortly joined by
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the king and the Duchess of Burgundy, who arrived on a
diplomatic errand from her husband. She, like the Dauphine
and like the queen,—for Agnes Sorel was now in the
ascendant—was a neglected wife. Her diplomatic errand
was probably diplomatic in more senses than one, for the
Duke was “le plus damaret de son époque”; and she
found a sympathetic confidante in the queen. In the words
of Olivier de la Marche, the two took occasion “pour se
douloir et complaindre I'une 4 l'autre de leur créve cceur.”
Etiquette, however, did not admit of the duchess dining with
the king and queen, and she was thus thrown into the
company of the Dauphine, for whom she conceived a great
affection equalled only in intensity by her dislike for the
Dauphin, with whom she had high words, perchance on the
question of his treatment of his wife.' The Dauphine paid
her frequent visits, often staying with her for two or three
days together. She had indeed not a little need of sym-
pathy, as we are soon to see.

For the moment, however, the presence of a distinguished
visitor had brightened the mourning court not a little, and
on July the 2nd, after a great banquet, we read of a ballet
entitled the ¢ Basse Danse de Bourgogne,” danced by the
Queen of Sicily, the Duchess of Calabria, the Dauphin, and
the Count of Clermont. But for Margaret the dark days were
approaching. Her constitution was not naturally strong,
and she had further impaired it by her long night-watches,
passed with her friendly rivals Jeanne Filleul, Pregente de
Melun, and Marguerite de Salignac, in the service of poetry.
She was sick of mind as well as body, and it is hard
to doubt that the slanderous tales that engendered this
agony of spirit, assisted and intensified the rapid malady
of which she died.

! It is thus represented in a picturesque little story with Margaret for its
heroine. (Les Marguerites du temps passé, by Madame Darmestetter.)
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We must now retrace our steps to the court of Nancy
or perhaps yet further still. Under the splendid exterior of
the restored French court, all was not well. Dissension
was rife. Taking no notice of cross currents, we may
roughly state that there were two factions—for the King
and for the Dauphin. The network of these intrigues is
intricate in the extreme, and perhaps the death of Margaret
is a mere episode in their history. It is a task for those
who are treating a far wider subject than the present,
to unravel the obscure story of the domestic factions at
the court of Charles the Seventh. As far as can be seen
in the confusion of this strange and fragmentary tangle,
the King has upon his side the Dauphine and the Queen
—for apparently no injury could vanquish or estrange
that unhappy lady’s loyal docility. Further, Margaret
finds her worst enemy in Jamet du Tillay, the devoted
adherent of her husband. How far the latter was con-
cerned in the attack upon his wife’s fair fame, which it
is now our task to relate, will in all probability never be
clearly ascertained. If he did not actually instigate the
plot, he, at least, during his wife's lifetime, seems to have
countenanced the very questionable proceedings of du Tillay.
And it is very difficult to discover any motive for Jamet's
conduct, other than the desire to please his master. The
crafty Louis no doubt never committed himself to positive
approval, but by refusing to disapprove worked his will.

But if Louis had a hand in the affair, what could his
motive have been? It is a question the solution of which
is entirely a matter of conjecture. The Dauphin was, we
know, jealous of his father’s power, and this jealousy seems
to have been fanned to fury by the advent of Agnes Sorel
and the influence she exercised with the king. And in
addition to this there is a curious point to notice in the
plot that came to light only a year after the Dauphine’s
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death. It is not necessary to enter into all its details.
Louis had designs upon his father’s person, and these de-
signs were thwarted by the loyalty of the Scottish guard.
“Il n'y a rien,” he said, in an unguarded moment to a
friend, “que de mettre ces gens dehors.” Can it be, as
M. F. Michel seems to suggest in his “ Ecossais en France,”
that Louis found the presence of his wife a bar to these
dark designs? Clearly, while she lived and was in high
favour with the king, the presence of the Scottish guard
was secured, and its importance perhaps heightened. Her
death or dishonour might well mean the disgrace or dis-
missal of the Scottish guard, whom he felt to be such'a
serious obstacle to his schemes. It is a possible and plaus-
ible theory, but it is no more than a theory. Many other
explanations might equally well be advanced. The perse-
cution of the Dauphine may merely have been the work
of an inhuman husband, possessed by the strongest aversion
for his wife. Ulterior motive there may have been none.
Or it is even possible that Louis was guilty of no worse
fault than heartless indifference. There is indeed but one
fact that seems to lend definite colour to the theory that
du Tillay was deliberately working for the Dauphin, and
that is, the strong objection expressed by him to the pre-
sence among the Dauphine’s attendants of certain ladies,
who had been appointed through the influence of the queen
and Agnes Sorel. But the general impression given by
the evidence of the witnesses examined at the inquiry into
the circumstances of Margaret’s death, is, that she was the
centre of a struggle of influences, and that Jamet du Tillay
concerned himself actively in this contest, under a careful
disguise of quasi-paternal anxiety for the Dauphine’s welfare.

There is, we shall see, always underlying the expres-
sions of anxiety for the health and fair fame of the princess,
the persistent recurrence of the charge of slander, and the

3
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bitter complaints of Margaret herself against Jamet seem
to dispose of any idea that he was merely a good-natured
and well-meaning, but utterly tactless busy-body. It is a
difficult task, however, to trace with any clearness the pre-
cise course of events in this perplexing story. For evid-
ence we are entirely dependent on the enquiry which we
have mentioned. .It is hard to reconstruct history out of
the conflicting evidence given at an inquest. It is rendered
doubly hard by the fact that there is a total lack of method
in the official report, that dates are confused and that
there are many irreparable gaps.

Though, therefore, to elaborate the story, and set it forth
in all its twists and turnings be impracticable, and in
view of the slender and unsatisfactory evidence, per-
haps unprofitable, we can, without grave injustice, draw a
general conclusion as to the situation in which the unfortunate
princess found herself placed, and, if we cannot know all
that transpired behind the scenes, can at least paint an
impressionist sketch of the drama as enacted in the eyes
of the world.

The first hint of trouble seems to take us back to a period
some two years before the Dauphine’s death. What pre-
cisely had happened we cannot tell, but Jamet du Tillay
had already incurred Margaret's grave displeasure. More
than once she said to Marguerite de Villequier,' one of her
attendant ladies, that of all men she hated Jamet du Tillay
most. Scandal, or the rumour of it, had already reached
her ears; and it must have been serious to have excited
such bitter words. But with the exception of this brief
utterance—perhaps wrongly dated through some slip of
memory on the part of the witness, we hear no more of

! Presumably one of the most impartial witnesses, as the king’s party had,
for reasons unknown, succeeded in having her removed from the Dauphine’s
household. She was, however, kinswoman to Agnes Sorel.
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evil rumours till the following year, when, as has been
mentioned, the court was at Nancy. Then occurred a
serious incident.

One winter evening about Christmas-tide Jamet du Tillay,
“bailli de Vermandois,” entered suddenly and unexpectedly
into the chamber of the Dauphine. He found the princess
lying upon her bed, surrounded by her ladies. Leaning,
as Jamet thought, somewhat too familiarly against the bed,
were two young lords, Jean d’Estouteville and another whom
Jamet failed to recognize. The room was lighted solely
by the flickering gleam of the hearth, and Du Tillay pro-
fesses to have been scandalized by the impropriety of the
situation, and to have rebuked the maitre d’'kétel, Regnault
de Dresnay, with severity. As to his precise words on
this occasion there is not a little doubt. According to his
own version, he said that it was “grande paillardise” for
the maitre d'hotel and the other officers of the household
to leave the chamber of so great a lady without torches
at that hour of the night. But the account given by other
witnesses was different. They represented him as having
said that such conduct was worthy rather of a pazllarde
than of a great lady. There are perhaps reasons for hold-
ing the latter version to be the more correct.' It is, at
any rate, a good deal more than probable that such was
the common impression, and we can hardly doubt that this
version came to the ears of the Dauphine and perhaps also
to those of her husband. For a little later * we find Mar-
garet once more declaiming with great bitterness against
some traducer, who, though not expressly named, is almost

! For the word “paillardise” is much more likely to be used of the
indiscretions of a “grande dame”, than of what was after all merely careless-
ness and bad taste on the part of the household.

2 Later, for the date is indicated by the words * before the Queen left Nancy ”,
clearly pointing to the end of her sojourn there.
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certainly to be identified with du Tillay. ¢ There is one,”
she cried to her ladies, “who is over light of speech, and
whom I do well to hate. For he has ever striven his best,
and is still striving to discredit me in the eyes of Monseigneur
the Dauphin. It has given me, and gives me still, great
sorrow of heart, for no man could speak worse words of
a woman than he of me.”” There seems here to be an ob-
vious reference to the unhappy episode of Christmas and
the coarse words of du Tillay, while it at least shows that
Margaret believed her persecutor to have for his aim a still
further estrangement between herself and her husband.

At what period exactly it was that du Tillay first
expressed his disapproval of the personal attendants of
the princess, we cannot say. It was probably at some
period of 1445, for Pregente de Melun, for whom he appears
to have had an especial aversion, had been transferred from
the household of the Queen to that of the Dauphine, largely
through the influence of Agnes Sorel—whose ascendency
was of recent date; and we gather also from du Tillay’s
defence of himself that Margaret was already in failing
health. Indeed Jamet was reported to have said that the
Dauphine was sick of love, that her death would be of
small loss to the realm, perhaps also that Pregente de
Melun was her accomplice in her “affaires de cceur.”!

Jamet, however, protested that he had done no worse than
remonstrate with Pregente, Jeanne Filleul and Marguerite
de Salignac for permitting—nay, encouraging the Dauphine
to keep such late hours. The doctors had told him that
the princess ran grave risks of falling into a serious illness

! Du Tillay is reported to have said of Pregente: *Je voudrais bien qu’elle
ne se melét point du tout dans les affaires de Madame la Dauphine, car elle
pourrait étre cause de quelque malheur”. The importance that seems to be
attached to these words and their context in the inquiry seems to warrant
the above suggestion.
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if she persisted in her long vigils. As to his having said
that she was sick of love, he had no remembrance of saying
anything of the sort; whilst concerning the charges that he
had brought accusations of unchastity against her and had
attempted to estrange her from her husband, he had never
seen aught in her that he would not willingly see in his
own wife, and whosoever taxed him with such dastardly
conduct lied foully in his throat and should answer for it
in single combat.

Whether Jamet's explanations were true or not, they were
at least plausible. For, without doubt, Margaret was far too
careless of her health. A lady of delicate constitution could
hardly hope to make roundel-writing a satisfactory substitute
for sleep. For, to quote a fragment of a conversation, which
took place between du Tillay and the king during her last
illness: ¢Madame kept such long watches, now greater,
now less, that sometimes it was almost sunrise before she
went to her bed, and often Monseigneur the Dauphin had
been long time asleep before she withdrew to her chamber,
and often she spent the hours of the night in writing
roundels, as many as twelve perchance, in the revolution
of one day, ‘qui lui estoit chose bien contraire’”. ¢That
is bad for the head, is it not?” asked the king. ¢ Yes,”
replied one present, “if it be indulged in over much—
mais ce sont choses de plaisance.”

But although her health may have been tottering, her
condition does not seem to have caused serious anxiety,
till some time after her arrival at Chilons. And even there,
as we have seen, she was able to enjoy life. It was also
at Chalons that the jousts took place, in connexion with
which is told the romantic story of the poor squire, and the
Dauphine’s liberality. It must also have been during her
residence at Chalons that she interceded with the king for
the inhabitants of Metz, then invested by the armies of France.
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Now, however, we are drawing very near the end.
Margaret’s sorrows seem to have awakened the pangs of
homesickness, and she had obtained permission from the
king for two of her sisters to come over to France and
reside with her. But she was never to have the joy of
setting eyes on them. Now, also, her friend and consoler,
the Duchess of Burgundy, departed from the French court.
She had perhaps been a peace-maker' in the disturbed
atmosphere surrounding the Royal household; she had, at
any rate, proved a comforter in some of its distresses. Nor
was her departure the only blow that befell the Dauphine. *
About the same time it is said, (though on what evidence
is not quite clear) that an angry interview took place
between Margaret and her husband. Perhaps it was in
connexion with the episode at Nancy, which the officious
du Tillay had reported to his master; perhaps in connexion
with the bestowal of the six hundred crowns on the hero
of the jousts. The story of this scene is not well authen-
ticated and we can only conjecture.

The shock may have further weakened the tottering fabric.
At any rate, on the seventh of August, as the result of a
pilgrimage in company with the king from the Chiteau
de Sarry, near Chilons, to Nétre Dame de I’Epine, she
took a chill. The day had been very hot, and on her

! Such at least is a plausible interpretation of a passage in the lament for
the Dauphine composed probably by her sister, Isabella of Brittany.
Adieu, duchesse de Bourgogne,
La mienne seur o cueur jolis;
Si vous povez par nulle voye,
Mettez pais en la fleur de lis.
21t is perhaps to this that Jeanne de Tucé alludes in her evidence. The
Dauphine complained “qu’il I'avait mise hors de la grace du Roi et du
monseigneur le Dauphin, qu’elle craignait plus en ce cas que nul autre.”
There may also be an allusion to the accusation brought against du Tillay,
that he had written anonymous and slanderous letters to the king. These
words are said to have been uttered at the beginning of August. But Jeanne’s
dates are inconsistent, and it was probably a little earlier.
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return to the Chiteau she had sat for some time lightly
clad in a cold and draughty room on the ground floor,
with the result that on the next day, to quote the grotesque
bulletin of her physician, “a cold was engendered in her
brain. And perchance from her said brain a portion of
these corrupted humours may have fallen upon portions of
her lungs, and caused the ulceration of her said lung.” In
other words, her imprudent conduct had resulted in inflamma-
tion of the lungs. Her condition rapidly became serious,
but the disease appears to have fluctuated in such a manner,
as now to give grounds for the strongest hopes, now to
plunge her friends anew into the most profound alarm.
She was removed to Chilons at the outset of her malady.
The church bells were forbidden to ring for fear of disturbing
her slumbers. The king was in great distress; he had just
lost his daughter, he was now it seemed to lose his daughter-
in-law, for whom he appears to have entertained a very
genuine affection.

Meanwhile the Dauphine lying on her bed of pain com-
plained rather of sickness of the soul than of the body.
Though the actual cause of her disease was purely physical,
the miserable state of her mind deprived her of ‘‘the will
to live” and sapped her already lowered vitality. On the
1oth of August Jeanne de Tucé tried to console her, and
. bade her be of good cheer and lay aside her melancholy.
“I have good cause to be melancholy,” replied the dying
princess, “and to be sad at heart by reason of the words
that have been spoken of me, words wicked and without
cause. For as I have hopes of salvation, I have not done
aught of that wherewith men charge me, nay, northought
thereof.”” And a few days later, when the force of the
malady increased, her complaints became yet more open.
Often and in the presence of many witnesses she cried
from her “couch of fire.” ¢Ah! Jamet, Jamet, you have
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attained to your end. If I die, ’tis by reason of you and
the words that you have spoken of me without cause or
justification.”” Then raising her arms to heaven she beat
her breast and continued: “I swear by God Almighty, by
my soul, and the baptism which I received at the font, that,
though I die, I have never deserved aught that men have
said of me, nor have I done any wrong to my lord the
Dauphin.” Pierre de Brézé, seneschal of Poitou, was so
stirred by these piteous words, that he cried out, as he
left the chamber, addressing du Tillay, ‘“Méchant ribaud,
c’est toi qui la fais mouyrir,” and so departed ‘“bien marry
et dolent,” saying, “c’est grand pitié de la douleur et
courroux, que soufire cette dame.”

Her strength gradually sank. Du Tillay, who, to use
Margaret’s words, felt ‘“que son fait branlait,”” had made
vain attempts even before her illness to obtain audience
of the princess, and defend himself personally against the
charges she brought against him. But Margaret would
have nothing to say to him. Du Tillay adopted a politic
attitude, and expressed profound grief on hearing of the
illness. He played the part of sympathiser to the king,
saying, ‘“How many misfortunes, sire, have come upon us
in so small a time; there has come greater sorrow upon
this land than ever yet came upon any. We have had all
these great lords quarrelling with one another, and now to
lose this lady would be the greatest ill that could befall us.”
All his efforts, however, were of no avail. The princess
was obdurate, and all the entreaties of her ladies and her
confessor could not induce her to grant him forgiveness.
At last, however, she felt her end very near at hand, and
her confessor, Robert Poitevin, was summoned to her bed-
side for the last time. ‘Madame,” he said, ““is your heart
full of thinking upon the God you must soon meet?” and
she answered “Yes, Master Robert.” ¢Madame, forget



THE PRINCESS MARGARET OF SCOTLAND 41

Him not,” urged the confessor. ‘Nay, nay,” was the
reply, “I will never forget Him!"" Then after a pause—
“Madame, have you pardoned all the world?” But to
this she answered never a word. Then Marguerite de Salig-
nac, taking Master Robert aside, said, “ You must make her
pardon Jamet du Tillay.” He returned to the bedside and
wrung the confession from her that there was yet one whom
she had not forgiven. ¢“Nay, Madame,” said the courtly
priest, ‘it must be that you have pardoned him for such
is your duty.” But three times the dying Dauphine re-
iterated that she had not done so. Then Jeanne de Tucé,
Regnault de Dresnay and her ladies round her added their
prayers to those of the confessor, saying that as she hoped
for pardon from God she ought to pardon all the world
and forgive him in all good heart. Then at last said the
princess, “I pardon him, then, and with all my heart.”

From this point she sank rapidly. A few hours before
her death she was heard to murmur. ¢“N’était ma foi, je
me repentirais volontiers d’étre venue en France.” And
soon after at 10 o’clock of the evening of the 16th August,'
she passed away in the twentieth year of her age, sur-
rounded by foreigners, a childless and neglected wife,® in
a strange land, her kinsfolk far away. Her last words
were, “Fy de la vie de ce monde, n’en parlez plus.”

The king and queen were deeply distressed at her death.
The queen fell sick of grief, and the king on the following
day hastily quitted Chélons “ dolent, courroucé et troublé de
son trespas.” Her crafty husband feigned the deepest
grief —for we cannot, considering his known attitude to-

1 She was born in 1424 and died August 16th, 1445. Her age has been
erroneously given as 26 and the year of her death now as 1444, now
as 1445.

2 Her barrenness was apparently commonly reported to be due to her own
imprudence in partaking overmuch of unripe fruit and vinegar.
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wards his wife, and his habitual heartlessness consider it
to have been genuine. However, the evidence' for his
tears, although contemporary, is not first hand, and even if
we suppose the narrative to be true, it has a melodramatic
tinge about it, which scarcely accords with true grief.
For Louis is represented as dissolved in woe, and moan-
ing, ‘“What a destiny has God given me! I have never
had one happy hour of life. For, first of all, I was hated
of my father, and later I was constrained to depart out
of France, and make war in Germany, and last of all to
besiege this town of Metz. And now God takes from
me that which I loved best in all the world.” Louis
protests too much. His grief, however, did not in the
least affect his political activity, and within an hour
or two of his wife’s death, he issued orders .for the
administration of Dauphiné as though nothing of moment
had occurred.

Margaret’s is a pathetic death-scene, and its pathos is
intensified by the arrival in France on the very day of
their sister’s death, of the two Scottish princesses. They
arrived too late, to find a double grief awaiting them.
For on the same day they learnt the news both of their
sister’s death and of that of their mother, who had expired
shortly after their departure from Scotland. “Una dies
hzc omnia ademit.” We may imagine Margaret, who had
longed for their companionship, asking often as she lay
dying, if her sisters had yet come. Now she was gone,
and they could look but on her embalmed face. Whether
she had been spared the grief of learning that her
mother was dead we do not know; it seems probable
that the news did not reach Chilons till shortly after
her death.

! Chronique de Praillon, Relation du siige de Mets.
/
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She was buried in the Cathedral of Chalons. It had
been the intention of the king, that her body should thence
be removed to the royal tombs of St. Denis. But the Dauphin
grudged this honour to his injured wife. For thirty-four
years her body reposed in the Cathedral church on the
Marne. Then Louis gave orders that her remains® should
be removed to the great church of St. Laon of Thouars.
There she lies, but her memorial, (of which a sketch has
been reproduced for the present volume), after suffering
grievous things at the hands of the Huguenots, seems
to have suffered the usual fate of royal tombs during the
French Revolution. :

But although she was gone, the memory of her death
did not rapidly pass away. In October 1445 an inquiry
was held at Chilons by order of the king, to investigate
the conduct of du Tillay. For, guilty or not, there was a
wide-spread feeling of indignation against him, and numbers
of the young lords of the court challenged him to single
combat. The king, however, interposed and pursued the
inquiry with a remarkable vigour and persistence, renewing
it again in the summer of the ensuing year. The Dauphin
also, as was absolutely necessary for his credit, took an
active . part in the proceedings. But what the precise cause
of such persistence may have beén is hidden from us.
The gravest suspicion was evidently attached in the highest
quarters to the conduct of du Tillay, and probably at the
back of this complicated affair we have, as has been already
indicated, some dark court intrigue.

Much evidence was brought against du Tillay, but he
parried all attacks with great skill, often, it is true, giving
the statements attributed to him a blank denial, more
generally contenting himself with showing how perversely

1 They were enclosed in three different caskets—the body in one, the
entrails in a second, the heart in the third.
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innocent words of his had been misinterpreted, and saying,
Honi soit qui mal y pense. But the cumulative evidence
is too strong for us entirely to believe in his innocence.
What was the result of the inquiry, there is nothing to
show. That it was not wholly adverse to du Tillay is
obvious, for he continued to enjoy the favour of royalty.
Indeed it is hard to see how on the evidence that has
come down to us, he could possibly have been condemned.
In England he would obtain a verdict of “not guilty,”
in Scotland of “not proven.” To revert for a moment to
a point on which we have already touched—namely, the
Dauphin’s conspiracy of 1446, even if we should suppose
Louis to have instigated the attack upon his wife with a
view to the furtherance of his nefarious aims, we cannot
with fairness involve du Tillay in the full shadow of his
guilt. Du Tillay’s name was never coupled with that con-
spiracy. He was rather the blind, perhaps the well-
intentioned, instrument of an unscrupulous master. We
may, without injustice, brand his conduct as unworthy of
a gentleman of France; it would perhaps be unfair to
gibbet him as a criminal.

As for our unfortunate heroine, her innocence is beyond
reasonable doubt. There is scarcely a word in all the
evidence, that could with any justice suggest that she was
faithless to her faithless husband. Foolish she may have
been with the folly of a romantic girl. The love of poetry
may have had a 'share in her death in more senses than
one. She was careless of her health, she was perhaps
over-rash and impulsive in her emotions. But wisdom and
a well-balanced judgment were rarely a portion of the
heritage of the Stewarts. Even her father, undeniably
great as he was, had not the highest political wisdom. And
like her more famous and more tragic kinswoman, who a
century later was also a Dauphin’s bride, she never had a
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fair chance in the struggle of life. Wedded to a false hus-
band, set in the midst of a licentious court she may well
be accounted happy, if she gave no true cause for scandal;
to have escaped it altogether would have been blessedness
unlooked for indeed. For if, perhaps, she had some of the
weaknesses of the Stewarts, she had their full dower of
charm. Historians almost without exception have passed
a sympathetic verdict upon her; her memory is fragrant in
the pages of the French chroniclers; and her sad death
was the subject of many an elegy—nay, was actually sung
by a Stewart princess herself.' One thing alone was
wanting to her—true love. Had this been granted to her,
she had not been “done to death by slanderous tongues.”
For her epitaph we may quote the simple comment of
the chronicler. ‘At this time also my lady the Dau-
phine died, which was great pity, for she was a noble
lady.” *

So we take leave of “Marguerite la Madeleine”.® She
is a slight figure seen only here and there through gaps
in the hurrying crowds, that throng this stirring period of

1 In the poem by her sister, Isabella of Brittany, referred to some pages
back. It is a work of no literary and very small historical value. It is quoted
in full in Michel’s «Ecossais en France.”

2 As to the authorities to whom I have referred for this slight sketch of
the Dauphine, Margaret of Scotland, I am particularly indebted to the A7story
of Charles VI/. by M. du Fresne de Beaucourt and to M. Jusserand’s Romaznce
of e King’s Life. 1 have also consulted the reports of the three inquiries
into the conduct of Jamet du Tillay, together with the Narration of Regnaunlt
Girard, which are to be seen in the National Library of Paris. These last
two works form the mainstay as regards the evidence concerning the life of
this little known princess. In addition to this, du Fresne de Beaucourt’s
edition of Matthieu de Coucy, and the Chronicle of Jean Chartier give some
useful information. Michel’s account of the Dauphine seems to be taken almost
word for word out of the imaginative and grossly inaccurate account by
Le Roux de Lincy in his Femmes Célébres.

3 Whether there is any real authority for this title, is uncertain. It may
merely be based on the fact that in the key to a secret code used by the

Duke of Burgundy in his intercourse with one of his secret agents, she is
signified by this psendonym.


















II
ELIZABETH OF BOHEMIA, DAUGHTER OF JAMES VI. AND L

As a link in the Genealogy which connects the House
of Hanover. with the House of Stuart, the name of Elizabeth,
Queen' of Bohemia, is not unfamiliar to her countrymen.
Slightly less* adventitious and more personal is the additional
fame which still clings to this daughter. of King James L.,
as “The Mistress” to whom was dedicated one of the
most beautiful ' lyrics in the English language. For it was
the sight of Elizabeth in 1620, during her one year’s reign
in Bohemia, that inspired Sir Henry Wotton to give voice
to his admiration in'the following well-known verses :

“You meaner Beauties of the Night
That poorly satisfie our Eies
More by your number than your light;
You Common people of the Skies,
What are you when the Sun shall rise?

“You Curious Chanters of the Wood,
That warble forth Dame Nature's layes,
Thinking your Voyces understood
By your weake accents; what’s your praise
When Philomell her voyce shal raise?

“You Violets, that first apeare,
By your pure purpel mantels knowne,
Like the proud Virgins of the yeare,
As if the Spring were all your own;
What are you when the Rose is blowne?
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“So when my Mistris shal be seene
In form and Beauty of her mind,
By Vertue first, then choyce a Queen,
Tell me, if she were not design'd
Th' Eclypse and Glory of her kind.” !

The admiration of Elizabeth to which Wotton gave an
expression so courtly and poetic was by no means confined
to courtiers and poets: it was re-echoed by her contem-
poraries of every rank and of every party. Hence it is
that the story of her life, while it necessarily centres round
her dramatic reign as a “Queen by choice”, and round
the causes and consequences of that episode, equally in-:
volves a consideration of that ¢virtue’’ to which she owed
the praises of her admirers and her proudest title of the
“Queen of Hearts”.

During the five generations which elapsed between the
death of Margaret and the birth of Elizabeth Stuart, Europe,
under the influence of the Renaissance and the Reformation,
changed its medieval for a modern aspect. By the close of
the 16th century the rival Churches into which Christendom
had been partitioned, were showing signs that they were
weary of their long warfare. At length men could hope
that the time was at hand when religious differences should
no longer be made the occasion for bloodshed. Such was
the condition of Europe when, on the 19th of August, 1596,
the Queen of Scotland gave birth in Falkland Palace to a
daughter, who was later to become the ill-fated Queen
of Bohemia. Strangely enough, only three days earlier,
on August 16th, there had been born in distant Heidel-
berg, a Prince whose life was to be most closely bound
up with that of the Scottish Princess. And these two not
only were destined to bring grievous misfortune upon each

1 Reliquize Wottonianz, p. 518.
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other, but were also to take a foremost part in breaking
the European truce and in plunging their own generation
into the longest and most cruel of religious wars.

The Princess was received with but a scanty greeting:
for already her father, King James VI., possessed a son and
heir; and at the time of her birth the attention of the Scottish
court and nation was concentrated on matters of more im-
mediate importance. These were the days when Andrew
Melville came to Falkland uninvited, and spoke in plain,
uncourtly language to his King, “God’s sillie vassall.” It
was at this very time, in fact, that the lingering struggle
. between James and the Presbyterian Ministers had come
to a climax. And thus when the day arrived on which
the two months’ old Princess was to be christened, the
Edinburgh preachers, so far from congratulating the Crown
on the happy event, were only intent on denouncing the
Court for its treatment of Mr. Black, their champion.
Meanwhile, at Holyrood Chapel, the baptismal ceremony
was ‘quietlie and with the less circumstance past owir.” !
When Thomas Bowes, the English ambassador, held the
child in his arms; and when the Lyon Herald proclaimed
her title as “The Lady Elizabeth, first dochtour of Scot-
land,” the few nobles who were in attendance, probably
thought but little of the small Princess herself and much
of the significance of the event. It was a notable fact that
James had asked the English Queen to stand ‘““gossip” to
the girl, and that she on her part had consented. What
better evidence could there be that the disagreements
between the two crowns were laid aside: that James
was ready to forget the unkind allusions with which the
English Spenser had recently defamed his mother; and that
Elizabeth had forgiven the wild raid of Kinmont Willie,

1 Hist. MS, Com. 11th Report, App. 6, p. 67.
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and had for the time relinquished her intrigues with the
Scottish malcontents?

For seven years the child grew up in the Palace of
Linlithgow, under the care of Lord and Lady Livingston.
Then, in 1603, came the good news that Queen Elizabeth
was at length dead. James was summoned to fill the empty
throne; and preparations were at once begun for the mi-
gration of the royal family to England. Henceforth the
romance of Stuart history was to be displayed upon a
more conspicuous stage.

The journey south must have been a strange experience
for the little Elizabeth. Some portions of the route were
traversed in the company of her festive mother. But it
was for the most part in solitary grandeur that the seven
year old Princess, followed by her own train of attendants,
lumbered slowly along the dreary Great North Road. Edin-
burgh was left behind on June 3rd. At Berwick there
occurred a sad parting with Lady Livingston. ¢“Oh Ma-
dam!” Elizabeth is said to have sobbed to the Queen,
“nothing can ever make me forget one I so tenderly
loved.”' However, regret at leaving her Scottish friend
and her Scottish nursery doubtless soon gave way to a
wondering interest at the attentions and the crowding curio-
sity of her father’s new subjects.

After a month’s journey Elizabeth rejoined her parents
and her elder brother, Prince Henry, at Windsor. There
was a pleasing homeliness about the family life of the first
Stuart King of Great Britain. James and his wife, Anne
of Denmark, were not indeed a well-assorted pair. The
King himself, could have but little in common with his
wife, a silly woman, absorbed in her own petty jealousies
and frivolities. In his uncouth character the heavy learning

! «“Memoirs of the Queen of Bohemia,” by “One of her Ladies,” p. 43.
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of his tutor Buchanan awkwardly jostled with the wit and
spirit of his mother, the passionate Mary Queen of Scots.
But James was naturally warm-hearted; and was glad to
humour both the Queen herself and their children.

An excellent insight into this family life is provided
by the ¢“Memoirs” of Elizabeth’s girlhood, which were
written by one of the Princess’s Scottish companions in
her old age.'® This lady gives the following account of
Elizabeth’s reunion with James at Windsor.

“My young Mistress, (she was then but seven years old)
who was very fond of her Father, expressed her joy at
seeing him again, in so endearing a manner as gave him
great pleasure; after giving her a thousand pretty toys,
he shewed her the Dauphin’s picture, and asked her how
she would like him for her husband!

¢“She made him no answer, but coloured and ran into
the next room, where I was waiting with some of the
Queen’s ladies. She whispered to me, that she had a great
secret to tell me; and when we were alone, she told me
what the King had said to her, and that the Dauphin’s
picture was the prettiest face she had ever seen, but
charged me not to tell even her brother, that she had
said so.” ?

We see James again in a good humour two days after
the family reunion at Windsor. Elizabeth had been watch-
ing from a recess of St. George's Hall the state dinner
which followed the installation of Prince Henry as a Knight
of the Garter, and after the dinner she had joined the Queen,
who was receiving her new subjects. Thereupon James
jovially asked Lord Southampton and others “if they
did not think his Annie looked passing well; and my little
Bessy too (added he, taking his daughter up in his arms

1 Vide “Note” on the ‘“Memoirs” at end of chapter.
2 Memoirs, pp. §1—2.
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and kissing her) is not an ill-faured wench, and may outshine
her Mother one of these days.” !

After the Princess had been a few months at the English
Court, the “camp volant” as it was called by an exhausted
Secretary of State; * James decided that her health could
no longer stand the strain, and that her newly appointed
guardians, Lord and Lady Harington, would do well to
educate the girl in the seclusion of their country seat.
Elizabeth had already made friends in England; and the
parting with her cousin Arabella Stuart and the other relatives
at court was sorrowful enough: but when it came to saying
good-bye to Prince Henry ‘“she hung about his neck, crying
and repeating a hundred times, ‘I cannot leave my Henry.’ " *

Henceforward Elizabeth was established at Combe Abbey
near Coventry, and with her were several daughters of Scottish
and English nobles, two Percies, a Devereux (daughter of
Queen Elizabeth’s Earl of Essex), a Hume, a Bruce, and the
writer of the Memoirs—to whom we owe a happy picture
of their life in this peaceful Warwickshire home.

The Princess’s room in the old monastery looked out over
brilliant flower-beds: beyond was a green English lawn,
and in the distance an artificial river that disappeared
among the neighbouring woods. ¢ Nothing took the Prin-
cess’s fancy so much as a little wilderness at the end of
the Park, on the banks of a large brook which ran winding
along, and formed in one place a large irregular basin, or
rather a small lake, in which there was an island covered
with underwood and flowering trees and plants, so well
mixed and disposed that for nine months in the year they
formed a continual spring.” * This place the Princess took

1 Memoirs, pp, §6—7-

2 Nichol’s “Progresses,” vol. i,, p. 272. Cecil to Shrewsbury, Sep. 17, 1603.
3 Memoirs, p. 107.

4 Memoirs, pp. 112—3.
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for her own, and here in an aviary, the back and roof of
which were formed of natural rock, she collected birds of
every species and of every country. In the wilderness and
wood Lord Harington built “little wooden buildings in all
the different orders of architecture;’ and in these were
scattered paintings of divers races, and stuffed skins of all
sorts of animals, “so that this was a kind of world in
miniature. Adjoining the wood were some meadows, which
were afterwards added to what the Princess called ‘her
Territories’, and this, ‘her Fairy-farm’, from its being
stocked with the smallest kind of cattle from the isles of
Jersey, Shetland and Man.” '

If the park of Combe Abbey was the right place to give
Elizabeth health of body, its owner was certainly the man
to develop her health of mind. James had shown true
wisdom in raising Harington to the peerage on his acces-
sion, and in then entrusting to him the up-bringing of his
daughter. A man of science and a man of religion, withal -
a courtier and a sportsman, Harington was no unworthy
contemporary of Francis Bacon. His interest in every
sphere of knowledge gave him a breadth of view which
prevented him from belonging to either the school of thought
which culminated in Cromwell, or that which culminated
in Laud. And it was to Harington that Elizabeth owed the
stock of philosophy and religion that carried her through life.

It was one of James’s maxims ¢“That even a man who
was vain and foolish, was made more so by learning, and
as for women, who, he said, were all naturally addicted
to vanity, where it did one good it did harm to twenty;
he therefore charged Lord Harington not to attempt to
make, the princess a Latin or Greek scholar (as had been
usual for women, especially those of high birth, in the pre-

1 Memoirs, pp. 121—I124.
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ceding age), but to endeavour to make her truly wise by
instructing her thoroughly in religion, and by giving her
a general idea of history.”!

The king’s intructions were sensibly carried out by Har-
ington. “Religion” was expounded at short morning
and evening prayers; and special resident masters equip-
ped the princess with the ordinary ¢ polite accomplish-
ments”’ of a young lady; but the bulk of the instruction
was imparted informally and without being obtrusively
labelled work. Thus the learning of history and geography
became a game in which pictured cards had to be shuf-
fled and arranged. Or “if a butterfly or glow-worm took
her eye, some account was given her of their nature, and
of the wonderful changes most of them go through.”? The
children would delight to look at these insects through the
newly discovered microscope, or at the stars through Lord
Harington’s wonderful telescope; and at such times their
guardian would denounce the astrology which was still the
fashionable belief of the age, or he would explain to them the
new views of Copernicus. Then the children would think
he was laughing at them, and Harington would not be
satisfied till all the motions of the earth had been made clear.

At other times the birds and flowers would suggest to
Harington moral lessons; or from the views of Copernicus
he would branch off to the statements of the Old Testament,
to discuss the divine purpose in the gradual revelation of the
secrets of nature. It is satisfactory to be assured that the
children understood what their guardian had to tell them,
and that of them all, Elizabeth—though she was not told
so at the time—proved herself the quickest, and the clever-
est.> These were happy days for Elizabeth at Combe

Memoirs, p. 109.
Memoirs, p. I115.

1
3 Memoirs, pp. 116—119.
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Abbey; days beginning early with visits to her “Fairy-
farm”’, filled with an abundance of exercise in the fresh air,
as the Princess played on her territories, tended her pets,
or adorned her grotto with moss and shells, and ending
with music or dancing. Already she was playing the
queen; for her court she had her six companions, while
twice a week the children of the neighbouring families
were admitted to ‘her drawing-rooms;”' of grooms and
ladies-in-waiting there was a large train at the Abbey; for
her subjects there were the farmers’ daughters whom she
caused to be dressed as shepherdesses, and a pauper family
whom she had established on her territories as keepers of
her beasts and birds. Occasionally, too, she had her state
functions; as when in 1604 she paid a solemn visit to
the city of Coventry, was received by the Mayor and
Aldermen, and was treated to a sermon and a dinner.?
Clearly, the eight year old Elizabeth was a most gracious
little queen, everybody petted her, and she, for her part,
was fond of everybody. &

But already she had to learn, that in playing the part
of a Queen there are material difficulties. The writer of
her childhood’s biography tells a story which shows that
she was the same over-generous, extravagant creature from
the first, which she remained to the last years of her life.
“For a great while she spent her money long before the
next quarter was due—nay, sometimes before the first week
was out. Once in particular, I remember she laid it all
out within three days after it was paid in, in a heap of
trinkets which she had divided amongst us, but chiefly
between Lady Lucy Percy and myself. Lord Harington
who had observed it in silence, purposely brought to her
some curiosities, that were to be sold, one morning that some

1 Memoirs, p. 161.
2 Nichol’s *Progresses of James L,” vol. i, p. 429.
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young ladies of the country were to be presented to her, to
whom, he told her, it would be proper she should make
 a present of some of those rarities; and to make her dis-
tress the greater, presented her a moving petition of a
decayed gentleman’s family; this obliged her to own her
money was all gone.”'! She begged her guardian to
advance the money out of her next quarter’s allowance.
He replied by warning her against the practice of ever
anticipating her income, and promised to assist the dis-
tressed family himself. ¢ This was a little mortification to
the Princess: Lady Lucy Percy and I asked her leave to
return what she had so lavishly given us that she might
bestow them on the strangers; this she refused with some
scorn, telling us, she never took back what she had
given; but recollecting that our offer proceeded from affec-
tion, she burst out a-crying, and said, she would accept
of any thing from such friends, but that those baubles
would be despised by those who did not know and love
her, and that if Lady Harington would let her, she had
rather give some of /er jewels.” *

The peaceful round of Elizabeth’s country life was broken
in the November of 1605 by the alarm of the Gunpowder
Plot. Combe Abbey was in the centre of the conspirators’
country; and they had planned to capture her and declare
her Queen in her father’s stead. It is an oft-told tale, how
Sir Everard Digby invited the Catholic gentlemen of the
neighbourhood to a meet at Dunchurch; how this party was
to have hunted no smaller game than the Princess herself;
and how Lord Harington received warning of the plot
only just in time to place her in safety at Coventry. We
have the latter's own account of the episode in a letter

1 Memoirs, pp. 123—56.
2 Memoirs, 127.
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addressed to his cousin: ¢ Our great care and honourable
charge entrusted to us by the King's Majesty, hath been
matter of so much concern, that it almost effaced the atten-
tion to kyn or friend. With God’s assistance we hope to
do our Lady Elizabeth such services as is due to her prince-
ly endowments and natural abilities; both which appear
the sweet dawning of future comfort to her Royal Father.
The late divilish Conspiracy did much disturb this part...
I went with Sir Fulk Greville to alarm the neighbourhood
and surprize the villains, who came to Holbach; was out
five days in peril of death, in fear for the great charge
I left at home. Her Highness doth often say, ‘What a
queen should I have been by this means! I had rather
have been with my Royal Father in the Parliament House
than wear his Crown on such condition.” This poor Lady hath
not yet recovered the surprize, and is very ill and troubled.” !

About the Christmas of 1608, after five happy years at
Combe Abbey, Elizabeth returned to Whitehall, and was
given an establishment of her own at court. According
to modern ideas, it was a ridiculously early coming out.
But the children of those times, when they left the nursery,
were made to talk and behave, just as they were made to
dress, like elderly gentlemen and elderly ladies. The
twelve year old Elizabeth was probably as staid as she
was ever destined to become; nor was she lacking in self-
assurance. The first impressions of the French Ambassador
were very favourable: she is “full of virtue and merit,
handsome, engaging, very well bred, and speaks French
exceedingly well, much better than her brother.” * But
although the Cock-pit of Whitehall was assigned to Elizabeth

! Lord Harington to Sir James Harington: Nichol’s “ Progresses,” vol. i.,
PP. 890—2.

2 La Boderie’s Report. Raumer. “History of the Sixteenth and Seven-
teenth Centuries,” vol, ii., p. 227.
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and she was given a regular establishment of her own, the
change was not far-reaching. ILord and Lady Harington
were still kept by her side to manage her affairs, and she
passed most of her time in the country at Hampton Court
or at Kew, where she had leisure to continue her lessons
in music, French, and Italian.

And it was well for her that she was still under the influ-
ence of Lord Harington in her new surroundings. It was
well, not because the Court at this time was especially disso-
lute; for the ill repute which clings to the Court of James I.
in so far as it is not the mere invention of a later age, is
traceable to the causes célébres which distinguished the latter
half of the reign. The old-fashioned view which regarded
the accession of James as initiating the decline of morality
is thoroughly misleading. These early years of the 17th
century are rather the flowering season of the Elizabethan
age—both of what was ill and of what was admirable in
that many-sided epoch. Freed from all wars or dangers
from abroad, undisturbed as yet by serious trouble at
home, England, growing every year richer in material
wealth, and in literature, was now, if ever, genuinely
“merry.” All classes were turning to enjoy themselves
as whole-heartedly as they had previously set themselves
to fight the Spaniard. Nor was there ever a jollier pedant
than the King himself. Royally “liberall of what he had
not in his own gripe”,' too lazy ever to say his friends
“Nay,” James always loved to see those around him happy.
At court the amusements though harmless, were not for
the most part of a high order. Following the example of
the silly Queen, the order of the day was for “foolery”
and extravagance. This then, is the reason for which it
was well for the young Elizabeth that she continued under

1 Secret History of the Court of King James I, vol. ii., p. 7.
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Harington’s guardianship: it probably saved her—giddy and
impressionable as she was by nature —from becoming as
wholly frivolous as her empty-headed mother.

The strong influence which the teaching of Harington
exercised over the mind of Elizabeth, is apparent in some
childish verses which were written by her soon after her
first taste of the life at court. A few stanzas are sufficient
to show the tenour of the whole poem:

I

“This is joy, this is true pleasure,
If we best things make our treasure
And enjoy them at full leisure,
Evermore in richest measure.

1I

God is only excellent,

Let up to him our love be sent;
Whose desires are set or bent
On aught else shall much repent.

III

Why should vain joys us transport?
Earthly pleasures are but short—
And are mingled in such sort,
Griefs are greater than the sport.
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IX

And regard of this yet have
Nothing can from death us save,
Then we must into our grave,
When we most are pleasure’sslave,

X

By long use our soules will cleave
To the earth: then it we leave;
Then will cruell death bereave,
All the joyes that we receive.
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and the “earthly pleasures’’ which was to increase as she
grew older. It was no wonder that she should find the
amusements of the court fascinating. She would be able
to appreciate those games of the Queen and her ladies,
which made the more serious and elderly Arabella Stuart
complain that she was expected to “play the child.”!
The varied diversions of the court would seem to the young
Princess always fresh and exciting—the new shops in the
Strand, the bear-baitings at the Tower, the receptions of
foreign ambassadors and the other state functions of every
description. > But more than all she would probably enjoy
the gorgeous, fantastic Masques, those marvellous entertain-
ments, half pantomime, half opera, to the contrivance of
which the great men of the age devoted so much of their
intellect, and in the production of which the courtiers
consumed such quantities of their time.?

The Christmas of 1609 was celebrated by a great tour-
nament. Here Prince Henry who had challenged the young
nobles, proved his manhood by breaking several pikes
against them. Elizabeth herself had been chosen as “Queen
of the Barriers” by her brother. It was an entertainment
typical of the times. When the jousting was ended, a
performer dressed as Merlin stepped forward, and, inspired
by Ben Jonson, thus addressed King James:—

“You and your other you, Great King and Queen,
Have yet the least of your bright fortune seen,
Which shall rise brighter every hour with time,

And in your pleasure quite forget the crime
Of change; your age’s night shall be her noon:
And this young Knight* that now puts forth so soon

1 Inderwick, *Side-lights on the Stuarts,” p. 87.

2 Elizabeth constantly attended these functions, zide Nichol’s *Progresses,”
vol. ii., passim.

3 For an admirable short account of the Masques of the period zids
Masson’s “Life of Milton,” (Ed. 1881), vol. i, p. 578.

4 Prince Henry.
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Into the World shall in your names achieve

More garlands for this State, and shall relieve
Your cares in government; while that young Lord!
Shall second him in arms, and shake a sword

And lance against the foes of God and you.

Nor shall less joy your Royal hopes pursue

In that most Princely maid * whose form might call
The world of war, to make it hazard all

His valour for her beauty; she shall be

Mother of Nations, and her Princes see

Rivals almost to these.”

It is a strange jumble—this prophecy of Jonson—in
which hidden truth consorts with fiction.

The festivities were carried on up to the following night
when Elizabeth gave away the prizes; after which function,
though the King himself went off to bed, and it was past
midnight, the young Prince and Princess stopped up for a
two hours’ comedy; nor even then would they retire until
Henry had twice taken his sister round the long table,
laden with the supper which he had prepared for the
nobles, and had shown her the windmills and dryads and
planetary systems, that adorned the board, all wonderfully
fashioned in sweetmeat.

Six months later the creation of Henry as Prince of Wales
was celebrated with yet greater festivities. There was a
Masque, called “Tethy’s Festival,” in which Elizabeth took
part as the “Nymph of the Thames.” Her dress was of
sky-coloured taffetas with the ¢ long skirt wrought with
lace, waved round about like a river; while from a great
mother-of-pearl shell on her head hung a thin, waiving
vaile.” *

1 Prince Charles.

2 Princess Elizabeth.

3 Nichol’s “Progresses,” vol. ii.,, pp. 281—2.
4 Ibid., vol. ii., p. 354.
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We see from one of her letters to Henry that this
“weighty affair’” had been occupying her mind for some
time. She writes:—

““ Monsieur mon frére, Mes lettres vous suivent par tout.
Je desirerois qu'elles vous fassent aussi aggréables que
frequentes. Je scay bien qu’elles ne contiennent aucun
subjet d’importance qui les puisse rendre recommendables,
si ce n’est que V[otre] Alltesse] me permette de vous dire
que le temps d’estudier le balet s’approche. Puis donc que
c’est un affaire de poids qui semble requerir votre presence
prompte? Je supplieray V. A. de vous disposer a quitter
bien tost les campagnes de ce pais la, pour visiter,

“Monsieur mon frere, Votre soer tres affectionné et
servante tres humble,

“ELIZABETH.”!

The friendship between Elizabeth and her brother is the
most striking feature of these years. The reality of their
affection is not indeed to be discerned in the polite and
stilted declarations of their correspondence, much of which
—together with their early letters to their parents—seems
in its beautiful copy-book writing to have been merely a
form of educational exercise. But even amid this formality
there are occasional passages which reveal the actual rela-
tions between the correspondents; for instance, in one letter
Elizabeth playfully begins to quote Italian: “Je vous en
envoye mille graces et vous dis brivement que je sens un
extréme contentement de votre retour por dega, et cosa e
bella ¢ finita, si vous n’entendez mon Italien je vous en
donnerai linterpretation a notre prochaine rencontre, en
contre echange de celle que me promettez de votre latin.” 2

It was natural that Elizabeth should have been devoted

1 Harl. MS. 6986, f. 117.
3 Elizabeth to Prince Henry, 1610, Harl. MS. 6986, f. 117.
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to her brother, for his was a most attractive personality.
Bacon has left us his impressions of the boy. “In body,”
he says, “he was strong and erect, of middle height, his
limbs gracefully put together, his gait kinglike, his face long

and somewhat lean,... in countenance resembling his sister
as far as a man’s face can be compared with that of a
very beautiful girl.... His forehead bore marks of severity,

his mouth had a touch of pride; and yet when one pene-
trated beyond these outworks, and soothed him with due
attention and reasonable discourse, one found him gentle
and easy to deal with.”!

At the present day we cannot “penetrate beyond those
outworks” better than by quoting the following character-
istic letter which he wrote in 1609 to “his dear freind Sir
John Harington,” the only son of Elizabeth’s guardian:—
“My Good Fellow—I have here sent you certaine matters
of anciente sorte, which I have gained by searche in a
musty vellome booke in my Father's closet, and as it
hathe great mentione of youre ancestry, I hope it will not
meet your displeasure. It gave me some paines to reade,
and some to write also, but I have a pleasure in over-
reaching difficult matters. When I see you (and let that
be shortlie) you will find me your better at Tennis and
Pike. Good Fellow, I write your friend Henry. Your
Latin Epistle I much esteem and will at leisure give
answer to.”?

There was no doubt of Henry’s pride. Perhaps there
was a danger of this young prince—with his fines for
those attendants whom he caught using bad language—
allowing his pride to become priggishness. But his character
was redeemed by its high purpose. Fired by Raleigh’s
History of the World, the boy had resolved that he would

1 Bacon’s Works (Spedding’s Edition), vol. vi.,, pp. 327—8.
2 Nugz Antique, vol. iii,, p. 305.
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one day be himself a great king; and already he was
laboriously training himself for the task. It was with this
idea that he would, four or five times a day, don his
armour, and practise.with the sword or pike, or, making
friends with Phineas Pett the master-builder, would super-
intend the construction of the new ships for the much
neglected navy. But in spite of all this seriousness of
purpose, his energy was constantly overflowing in channels
more natural to boyhood. ¢“His other exercises,” writes
the Prince's Tutor, ‘“were dancing, leaping, and in times of
year fit for it, learning to swimme, at sometimes walking
fast and farre, to accustome and enable himself to make
a long march when time should require it; but most of all
at Tennis play, wherein, to speake the truth, which in all
things I especially affect, he neither observed moderation
nor what appertained to his dignity and person, continuing
oft times his play for the space of three or four hours,
and the same in his shirt, rather becoming an artisan than
a Prince.”!

It was through her love of sport that Elizabeth could most
naturally share her brother’s interests. Still, as at Combe
Abbey, she had about her her dogs and monkeys and par-
rots. Sir John Harington the elder—‘the merry blade”
of the court—tells us that his dog “Bungey”, so famous
for its “good deeds and strange feats,” ‘“did often bear
the sweet words” of the Princess “on his neck.”? The
brother and sister would often give each other presents
of horses. Elizabeth had now begun hunting in the
King’s deer forests; and the Prince so often called for her
to ride with him that poor Lord Harington, who had to

1 «Life of Prince Henry” by Cornwallis, Somer’s Tracts, vol. ii., p. 221;
also “Life” by Birch, and “Letters to King James the Sixth,” printed by the
Maitland Club, 1835.

2 Nichol's “ Progresses,” vol. ii., p. 197.
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attend her, was frequently fain to apologise for failing to
discharge his other duties.’ Scarcely a day passed with-
out the two children seeing each other, either by visiting
each other’s palaces, or by boating on the Thames, or
going down to Gravesend together to see Henry's ‘“great
ship” on the stocks, and to be entertained by Mrs. Pett.
Henry, however, had no intention of spoiling the Princess
as others were doing; he would sometimes tease her, or
frighten her with ghost stories before she went to bed;?
but it was doubtless for her own good, for on one point
all contemporaries were agreed, that though he was obedient
to his parents, and though fond of «“Baby Charles”, his
weak little brother, he nevertheless ¢“did extraordinarily
affect his sister and loved her above all others.”®

When the Lady Elizabeth had been some two or three
years at court, all Europe began anxiously to busy itself
in providing her with a husband. It was a complicated
subject, and revived the questions of foreign policy which
had puzzled Englishmen in the preceding reign. Should
England definitely assume the leadership of Protestant
Europe? or should she maintain her position on the conti-
nent by an attitude of balance, of mediation? In favour
of the former policy was the great majority of the nation
—those of every class to whom hatred for Spain was the
first and great commandment. As upholders of the latter
policy there were but a few Politiques, though they were
chiefly found amongst those in high places. James himself,
however, was a waverer, drawn one way by his strong
Protestantism, and in the opposite direction by his own

1 Cal. Dom. 1609, Oct. 25. 1

2 Miss Strickland’s “Queens of Scotland,” p. 31; Miss Strickland quotes no
authority except the “traditions of Ham Palace.”

3 Chamberlain to Carleton, Nov. 12, 1612, “ Court and Times of James I.”
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shrewdness and freedom from popular prejudices. For long
he was possessed with the noble idea of healing the religious
dissensions in Europe by mating at least one of his children
to a Catholic; and so when the chance of a French marriage
for Elizabeth was removed in 1610 by the assassination of
Henry IV., James for a time seriously considered the idea of
a marriage with a Prince' of Savoy, or one of the Medici, or
even Philip III. of Spain himself.' But he gradually learnt
—and he ought to have remembered it in his old age
when he wanted to marry Charles to the Infanta—that
honest toleration was impossible to Romanists. Accord-
ingly, nothing remained for him but to secure the best
Protestant alliance that offered.

There was no danger of any want of offers. Elizabeth
would have secured these, even had she not been the only
daughter of the greatest Protestant monarch. In features
she was handsome without being remarkable; her long
oval face was crowned with rich dark hair; her nose, which
resembled her father’s, was somewhat big and aquiline ; but
her eyes were large, and her mouth sympathetic.? Alto-
gether with her abounding health, her graceful figure and
her pretty impetuosity of manner, she may well have been
—as in fact all contemporaries were agreed she was—a
thoroughly attractive creature.

Most of the Protestant suitors who dreamt of winning
the Lady Elizabeth’s hand were clearly of insufficient rank—
two aspiring Howards ; Maurice, Prince of Orange, and some
smaller German Princelets. Gustavus Adolphus, the heir
of Sweden and already a youth of promise, might probably
have been accepted, had not his father been at war with
James’s brother-in-law, the King of Denmark. And so it

! Gardiner, Hist. of 'England. (Ed. 1883), vol. ii,, pp. 23, 136—I4I;
Hist. MS. Com., Xth Report, p. 557.
# Cf. Miss. Strickland, ‘‘ Queens of Scotland,” vol. viii., p. III.
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was largely by a process of exhaustion that the suitor who
was finally chosen was the Prince who had been born three
days before Elizabeth. Although not of royal blood, his
political status was considerable. Having succeeded his
father in 1610, he had become Frederic the Fifth, Elector
Palatine of the Rhine, and—what was more—the head of
the German Union of Protestant Princes. James might there-
fore reckon on the marriage being thoroughly popular with
his Protestant Parliament, and might reasonably hope for a
substantial e€pression of gratitude to fill his empty treasury.

To Frederic’s guardians, on the other hand, the alliance
which promised strength and prestige to the Palatine family
and to the Protestant Union was a splendid prize. They |
had only one fear, that Elizabeth ‘“by reason of her great
birth, would introduce customs of her own education, of
too high a flight for their usance to permit.” ' Their
apprehensions, -however, were soothed: it was agreed that
Elizabeth’s followers should be restricted to 36 men and
13 women; and James promised, in addition toa dowry of
£40,000, a liberal yearly allowance.

By the summer of 1612 everything had been arranged,
and Elizabeth was promised to the young Elector. They
were most suitably matched. Frederic, like Elizabeth, had
been brought up apart from the influences of a large court.
At Sedan, under his uncle the Duc de Bouillon, he had
received a sound Protestant education. If he had been
nourished on larger doses of Latin and a stricter Calvinism
than Elizabeth, he had not the less developed a healthy
capacity for enjoying the sports and pageants, and the good
things of this earth. At present Frederic’s Sedan educa-
tion seemed merely to have resulted in the production of
a somewhat heavily cultured, well-mannered young Prince.

1 Edmondes to Salisbury, Sep. 20, 1611, quoted in Everett-Green, vol.
v., p. 182.



ELIZABETH OF BOHEMIA 71

Later years were to reveal to the full, the disastrous effect
on his weak will of the influence of Henry de la Tour
d’Auvergne, Duc de Bouillon, the chief of adventurers, the
exploiter of his fellow Huguenots, the disturber of three
French reigns, the man who, with all his military and
diplomatic ability, with all his Calvinism and all his culture,
spent his life in playing with intrigues and rebellion.

But for the present there was small fear of future
troubles. Frederic utilised the months which had to elapse
before he could appear at the English couf, in perfect-
ing his dancing and deportment. At intervals he wrote
elegant nothings in French to Elizabeth and his future
» relatives, to which the latter replied in letters equally ele-
gant and equally empty.

The Princess was pleased with the match, chiefly because
it delighted her brother with his vigorous hatred of Spain.
The story ran that when Queen Anne, disappointed that her
daughter was not to marry a king, jeeringly called her
“ Goodwife Palsgrave’”, Elizabeth declared in spirited fashion:
“I would rather espouse a Protestant Count than a Catholic
Emperor.”

The Elector was expected to reach England early in
the autumn of 1612. The late summer found James, as
usual, making a progress through the country, securing
his hunting and entertainment at the expense of his loyal
subjects. The progress was closed by a family reunion at
Woodstock, the pleasant manor which the king a few months
previously had handed over to his son. Here Henry
had prepared “a most magnifique feast...; withal having
ordained a great summer-house of green boughs to be
built in the parke.” In this summer-house on Sunday
evening, the 3oth of August, a great supper was served,
“the King and Queen being set at a table by themselves
at the upper end of the room (his Highness with his sister
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accompanied with the lords and ladies sitting at another
table by themselves). His Highnesse like to the princely
Bridegroom, chearing and welcoming his guests, there
appeared an universall contentment in all.” !

A few weeks after this happy reunion—the last of its
kind—the same party was assembled in the new Banquet-
ing Hall at Whitehall, waiting to receive the Elector who
had reached Gravesend the night before. At length he
entered the Hall, escorted by the young Charles, Duke
of York. The first sight of his kindly face, thick curling
hair, and downy beard and moustache made it at once
clear that he had ‘“most happily deceived good men’s
doubts and ill men’s expectations.”* The scene is well
described in a news-letter. ‘“His approach, gesture, and
countenance, were seasoned with a well-becoming confidence ;
and bending himself, with a due reverence, before the King,
he told him among other compliments, that in his sight
and presence he enjoyed a great part (reserving it should
seem, the greatest for his mistress) of the end and hap-
piness of his journey. After turning to the Queen, she
entertained him with a fixed countenance; and though her
posture might have seemed (as was judged) to promise
him the honour of a kiss for his welcome, his humility
carried him no higher than her hand. From which, after
some few words of compliment, he made to the prince, and
exchanging with him after a more familiar strain certain
passages of courtesy, he ended (where his desires could
not but begin) with the princess (who was noted till then
not to turn so much as a corner of an eye towards him),
and stooping low to take up the lowest part of her garment
to kiss it, she most gracefully courtesying lower than

1 Nichol’s “Progresses,” vol. ii., pp. 462—3.
2 Fynnet to Trumbull, Oct. 23, 1612, Winwood, vol. iii., p. 403.
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accustomed, and with her hand staying him from that
humblest reverence, gave him, at his rising, a fair advan-
tage (which he took) of kissing her.”!

Frederic had assuredly begun well. Nor did he fail to
improve his initial success. A few days later it was reported
that he is “every day at court, and plies his mistress so
hard, and takes no delight in running at ring nor tennis,
nor riding with the prince, as Count Henry [of Orange| his
uncle and others of his company do; but only in her con-
versation. On Tuesday she sent to invite him, as he sat at
supper, to a Play of her own servants in the Cock-pit; and
yesterday they were all day together at Somerset House.” *

The tide of Elizabeth’s happiness was flowing strong.
But in the midst of her pleasure an event occurred which
for the first time brought great sorrow into her life. For
some weeks her favourite brother had been ailing. He
was the last person to admit the fact himself; and had
refused to discontinue his bathes in the Thames and
forego his other exercises. But by October 25th he could
no longer struggle against his disease—a typhoid fever. On
Sunday, November 1st, he so far rallied that he could be
visited by his family and the Elector. It was for the last
time. After five more days of ceaseless tossing, this prince,
the playmate of Elizabeth and the hope of England, was dead.

“The last words he spoke in good sense,’”” the news-writer
reported, “were ‘Where is my dear sister?’ She was as
desirous to visit him, and went once or twice in the even-
ing disguised for that purpose, but could not be admitted,
because his disease was doubted to be contagious.”?

It is well to remember the episode of this whole-hearted
friendship between the two royal children, in the history

! Fynnet to Trumbull, Oct. 23, 1612, Winwood, vol. iii., p. 463.
2 Chamberlain to Carleton, Oct. 22, 1612, “Court and Times,” vol. i., p. 198.
3 Chamberlain to Carleton, Nov. 12, 1612, “Court and Times of James I.”
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of a court which too often is associated in men’s thoughts
only with the depravity of a Lady Essex, or the venality
of a Carr. Elizabeth never forgot her “dear dead brother.”
But she was very young; Frederic was at hand to step in-
to the place left empty by Henry; and her life soon went
on again, as though there had been no sad interlude.
The winter of 1612—3 was passed in hunting and the
usual amusements of the court. Elizabeth was unlucky
at cards. This Christmas she lost more than £19 to her
father.

When Frederic was dragged off by James to hunt at
Royston, the lover used to write frequent letters to his
mistress, models of propriety and worthy sentiment. The
following is an example:

“Madame,

“Combien que je n'ay rien digne de vous
entretenir, si suis-je contraint de vous importuner vous
ressouvenir de moy, vous assurer que n'étes jamais sorti
une minute de mon cceur et pensée. . .. Rendés moy
digne et a4 vous agreable par vos loix, c’est 'unique grace
de laquelle je vous importune par cette cy, car étre aimé
de vous, c’est le seul bien ou j'aspire, assurés moy donc
de cela pour me donner quelque soulagement presentement
en mes langueurs et toute ma vie au contentement faire
vivre en repos comme celuy laquel est sans aucune excep-
tion, sans aucun desir que d’étre, Madame,

“Votre trés humble, et trés obeissant, et trés fidele ser-
viteur,
“FREDERIC, E.P.!

“De Roston [Royston| le 14 Xbre, 1612.”

1 Fred. to Eliz. Dec. 14, 1612, in Aretin, Beytrage zur Geschichte und
Literatur, Bd. vii., pp. 146—7.
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Frederic found his entertainment at the English court
an expensive luxury. He was anxious to return home as
soon as possible with his bride. James, though loath to
lose another child, at last gave his consent. On December
27th, the two were formally affianced and contracted.
On Shrove Sunday, February 14th, 1613, the wedding
service was performed in the chapel at Whitehall. On
both occasions the bride was overcome with laughter: in
the former function owing to the bad French of the contract-
ing words; in the latter from the sheer good spirits and
the light-heartedness of her 16 years.’ The marriage was
a wonder of ceremonial and magnificence even for that
extravagant age. The bride was attended by Lady Harington
(who in vain tried to still her laughter) and by 16 noble
bridesmaids, dressed in white satin. She herself was in
cloth of silver, upon her head a crown of immense
value. Her hair hung in plaits down to the waist; “be-
tween every plait a roll or liste of gold spangles, peorles,
rich stones and diamonds; and withal many diamonds
of inestimable value embroidered upon her sleeves which
even dazzled and amazed the eyes of all the beholders.” ?
But the wedding itself pales into insignificance before the
attendant celebrations. England and Protestant Europe
gave free vent in many forms to their wild delight at
the event. The plethora of “Joyfull Nuptiall Poemes”
which were poured forth, can faintly be realised from the
knowledge that Oxford alone published 243 ‘ Greek, Latin
and Italian Epithalamia.” And the literary rejoicings were
nothing compared to the spectacular demonstrations of joy
which broke out in London on the Thursday before the’
wedding and followed the newly-married couple through

! Chamberlain to Carleton, Dec. 31, 1612, * Court and Times of James 1.7,
vol. i., p. 216; Miss Strickland, vol. viii., p. 45.
Nichol, vol. ii., p. 543.
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England, Holland, and Germany until they at last died
away in the Palatinate. London excelled in the variety
and expensiveness of its welcome. For a week, without
intermission, day and night, it gave itself over to entertain-
ments and jollity—feastings, dances, masques, revels,
tournaments, ‘Triumphant Sports,”” sham fights on the
river, and “excessive bravery’ of every describable kind. '
Our sympathies go out to James, when, on Tuesday the
16th, the gentlemen of the Inner Temple and of Gray’s Inn
came by the water up to Westminster to play their masque,
which, being the contrivance of Sir Francis Bacon, was to
outdo all that had preceded it. But ¢“the king was so
wearied and sleepy, with sitting up almost two whole nights
before, that he had no edge to it. Whereupon Sir Fr.
Bacon adventured to entreat of his Majesty that by this
difference he would not, as it were, bury them quick; and
I hear,” writes Chamberlain, “the king should answer, that
then they must bury him quick, for he could last no
longer.” *

It was not till two months after the wedding that James
consented to his daughter’s departure, and everything was
prepared for the great migration. On the 1oth of April,
the Electress Palatine—to give Elizabeth her new title—left
London, escorted by the King and the court. As the royal
barges dropped down the Thames, amid the salutes of cannon
from the Tower, the banks were lined with the enthusiastic
Londoners, anxious to catch a last glimpse of their favourite
princess. A few, indeed, were to live long enough to see
her return, but under what different circumstances! To the

1 For interesting accounts of the celebrations vide Nichol’s “Progresses,”
vol. ii,, pp. §22—607; “Court and Times of James L,” vol. i., pp. 224—230;
Everett-Green, vol. v., pp. 203—217.

2 Chamberlain to Carleton, Feb. 18, 1612—13, “Court and Times,”
vol. ., p. 228.
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others—to her father who left her at Rochester, and to
Prince Charles who said farewell at Canterbury, she was
henceforth to be but a name and a remembrance.

Not till the night of the 25th did the wind allow the
party to set sail from Margate. The Elector and Electress,
and the faithful Harington, who with other English nobles
had been appointed as an escort to the Palatinate, sailed
in the “Royal Prince,” the ship whose building had been
the special delight of Prince Henry. It was proudly
captained by Phineas Pett, under the command of the Earl
of Nottingham, the Lord Admiral, who, in his younger
days as Howard of Effingham, had defeated the Armada.
Thirteen other large ships, not to mention the smaller
vessels, were required to transport the various attendants
and followers who numbered some 675 souls. It may well
have been a brave sight to see this new Armada sweeping
in crescent form across the narrow seas.'

Behind Elizabeth faded ten happy and peaceful years of
English girlhood. Before her there loomed an uncertain
future in a troubled Germany.

It could not be denied that Germany was troubled. In
that collection of ill-fitted states, independent except in so
far as they were subordinate to the ineffective and galling
overlordship of the Emperor, there was an ever-growing
animosity between the three religious parties—the Catholics,
the Lutherans, and the Calvinists. Since the Counter-
Reformation had begun, the Catholics from their stronghold
in the South and the South-East had been the most aggres-
sive party; and having recovered their hold over Bavaria
and the Hapsburg lands, were pressing forward their con-
quests with the assistance of the Jesuits. The Lutherans,

! Germany, (States) No. 12, Public Record Office; Archzologia, vol. xii.,
pp. 268—q.
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however, were still predominant in the North and North-
East of the Empire. The West, therefore, was the great
battle-ground of parties; and there the Calvinists, under the
leadership of the Palatine family, were vigorously bidding
for the ascendency. The hostility between the parties
was, of course, not due merely to theological differences.
The Catholics aimed at restoring the sfatus quo of 1555
by strictly enforcing of the Treaty of Augsburg; the
Lutherans, accordingly, were fearing for their ecclesiastical
lands that had been secularised since the treaty; while the
Calvinists realised that their very existence in the Empire
was threatened. Such were the elements of discord that were
disturbing Germany, and which might bring about a crisis
at any moment in any corner of the land. Moreover, since
the formation, in 1608, of the “Protestant Union” and the
“(Catholic League,” both the aggressive parties had been
ready arrayed for the fight, and it had become almost
certain that any local quarrel would bring about a general
engagement. In the following year it had seemed at one
time that the occasion for the expected outbreak had actually
been given by the disputed succession to the important
territories of Cleves-Julich. A powerful Protestant League
had then been formed by the Union, together with Henry IV.
of France, the Dutch States, and James of England. Its
immediate object was the settlement of the Cleves-Julich
succession ; its ultimate triumph would have involved the
overthrow of the Hapsburgs. Then had come the blow
of Ravaillac—fatal to the alliance as well as to Henry.
The crisis had luckily been postponed by a temporary
arrangement as to Cleves-Julich, and by the accession of
the moderate Matthias as Emperor. The question was
shelved for the time-being, but the danger of the general
situation continued.

To no one would the situation be more dangerous
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and more difficult than to Frederic. For the last two
centuries the Palatinate had taken a very active part
in European politics. The influential position which the
Electors had assumed, certainly was not proportioned to
the extent of their territories, split up as these were, into
two groups—the so-called Upper and Lower Palatinate. Of
these groups neither possessed any geographical individu-
ality. And, to make matters worse, large fractions of the
territory had been alienated to the cadet branches of the
House—the Counts Palatine of Neuburg and Zweibriicken.
The leading part recently played by the Palatinate had
been determined partly by its prestige as the first lay
Electorate, the richness of its Rhinelands, and its command-
ing geographical position on the high road to France and
the Low Countries, but still more by the energetic, spirited
characters of the Electors. These had placed themselves
at the head of the aggressive Calvinists. A generation back,
John Casimir had been found fighting the Catholics some-
times in France, sometimes in the Netherlands. Our Fre-
deric’s father had been chiefly responsible for organising
the Protestant Union. On his death its leadership, as
though it were hereditary, had fallen during the minority
of Frederic V. to the regent, John of Zweibriicken. But
there was no doubt that the young Frederic would soon
have to undertake the grievous honour himself. It was
equally certain that in those threatening times he would
have a most difficult course to steer, in his two-fold
capacity as Elector Palatine, and chief of the Protestant
Union.

And what were his qualifications for the task? Elegant
in person, suave in manner, Frederic was an admirable
performer in the everyday courtesies of life; and, with his
strong sense of honour, duty, and religion, there was no
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doubt that he would make an excellent husband. But he
belonged to that class of men whose virtues are as great
a drawback in public life, as they are beneficial in private.
At Sedan, he had learnt the refinement and the creed of
the Huguenot noble; yet he had not unlearnt his German
nature, He took too seriously his own importance and his
Calvinism. But he had lost the strong will and the power
of sustained effort natural to his countrymen. Bred to be
a mere courtier, he had had no experience whatever of
practical affairs. His interests lay only in the direction of
the small matters of everyday life. There is no evidence
to show that he had yet attempted to understand politics,
or to prepare himself for the duties that lay before him.
Nor was it likely that his failings would be corrected by
the influence of his young wife. Elizabeth’s interests and
sympathies resembled only too closely those of Frederic
himself. Though she was his superior in point of judgment
and vivacity, she had yet to learn to control herself and
her household, before she could think of helping her husband
in affairs of state.

Happily for themselves, however, Frederic and Elizabeth
were not likely to disturb their minds with the difficulties
of the future. The present with its bridal festivities was
all-absorbing. When they were enthusiastically received,
on their disembarkation, by Prince Maurice of Orange, and
the Dutch Estates, such political considerations as may have
arisen in their minds, cannot have been otherwise than
pleasant.

Amid general fétes and rejoicing, the young Elector and
Electress, the representatives of the new Protestant alliance,’
travelled slowly from Holland, up the Rhine to the Pala-
tinate. Their triumphal progress was a wonder of the age.
Those who are curious to know how Elizabeth walked, like
a common burgher’s wife, through the_streets of Flushing;
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how she left the Hague in her chariot with its four white
horses, the gift of her husband; how by the time she
reached Cologne the party had swollen to an army some
4,000 strong; and how she embarked at Bonn on a ship
marvellous with velvet and marble and laurels—these and
a thousand other details they may find in the pages of
Mrs. Everett-Green, and in other works such as that
whose title begins ‘Beschreibung der Reiss: Empfahrung
dess Ritterlichen Ordens: Volbringung des Heyraths: und
gliicklicher Heimfiihrung: Wie auch der ansehnlichen
Einfilhrung: gehaltener Ritterspiel und Fremdenfests: des
Durchleuchtigsten Hochgebornen Fiirsten und Herrn, Herrn
Friederichen dess Fiinften etc. mit der auch Durchleuch-
tigsten Hochgebornen Fiirstin und koniglichen Princessin
Elisabethen.”

When the Electress reached the Palatinate the rejoicings
were redoubled. The loyal Heidelbergers determined to
rival all that had gone before. On June 7th, she arrived
outside the town. As she passed through the Palatine
army, for almost an hour the air was filled with the
thunder of the cannon, and the plain with smoke. Then
the procession was formed, and with the fullest state
she drove through the town, and up the steep hill,
under triumphal arches, ponderous with learned allegory,
stopping at intervals to receive loyal addresses from
the magnates of the town and university. At length
the beautiful Schloss itself was reached. Elizabeth threw
her arms around Louisa Juliana, her mother-in-law, a
genuine Dutch woman of many virtues and of much
stolidity. Frederic carried his bride across his threshold,
and led her into the great hall where her new female
relatives were waiting, drawn up in two ranks, ready to

be presented.
6
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For a week the celebrations were continued. It was the
usual round: thanksgiving services, lengthy sermons by the
court chaplain, the great Scultetus; illuminations, classical
masques, dinners, tournaments, running at rings, running at
tubs, running at the head of a Moor. Then slowly the
dissipations abated. The guests and cousins returned home,
the English escort took its departure. For a time the Har-
ingtons remained by the side of Elizabeth to see the arrange-
ments of her new home completed. Then even the Har-
ingtons left her. Lord Harington she was never to see
again: the kindly old gentleman died a few weeks later at
Worms, worn out and impoverished by his labours on behalf
of his princess.

For six years Elizabeth’s life as Electress Palatine was
happy and uneventful. At her disposal was everything that
a heart ought to desire. She was the mistress of the Schloss
on the wooded heights above the straggling town and the
winding Neckar, whose cluster of red-stoned ruins is now
defiled by the cosmopolitan tourist. She was surrounded
by visitors from England and France, as well as by her
husband’s family and the nobles of the Palatinate. The
court of Heidelberg compared favourably with most other
German courts, It had been gradually exchanging the
rudeness of the castle life of medizval Germany for the
refinements of French and Italian civilisation. Under Fre-
deric IV. the change had been almost completed. The
diary of that extraordinary man, at once an earnest Calvinist,
a cool statesman, and a colossal drinker, gives, concisely
enough, an insight into the court life that immediately
preceded the #4gvme of Frederic V. and Elizabeth. After
such entries as “am 16 haben wir getanzet, am 17 wieder
getanzet und maskaraden gangen, 18 wieder maskaraden
gangen,” the old man enters (no doubt under the influence
of Louisa Juliana) many good resolutions, such as ¢ Trinken
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auf ein Vierteljahr zu verreden.”' With the reign of Fre-
deric V. and Elizabeth, the coarseness of the old order
disappeared; and the change was doubtless in some measure
due to the excellent example of the Elector and Electress
themselves. It was not that the court became Puritan:
for straight-laced Calvinism found little favour except with
Scultetus and the preachers; but the dissipations became
more refined, luxury and magnificence grew apace, foreign
fashions came in, and even the German language was almost
ousted by the French.

Thus Elizabeth’s life as Electress was not very different
from what it had been when she had been Princess of Eng-
land. So keenly did she continue her hunting, that her
astonished subjects christened her their “Diana of the Rhine.”
For the rest, the common round was chiefly varied by
occasional visits to German Princes, and by the birth of
three children: Henry Frederic in 1614, Charles Louis in
1617, and Elizabeth in 1618. Frederic did all that he could
to make her happy at Heidelberg. He added a new “Eng-
lish” wing to the Schloss. He ordered the rocky hill on
which the Schloss stood, to be planted with orange trees
and adorned with fountains and grottoes; and he raised
her allowance for dresses.

In spite of her general happiness, Elizabeth now began
to receive her first schooling in troubles and worries.

In the first place, her husband fell sick soon after he had
reached his majority in 1614, and this, added to the burden
of his new political responsibilities, made him moody and
dejected. He would “not even discourse with, caress, esteem,
or speak to any one, unless compelled to it;” and poor
Colonel Schomberg, the factotum of the court, used to become
both afraid and ashamed when any one came near his

! Hiusser, Geschichte der rheinischen Pfalz, vol. ii., pp. 240—1I.
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master. Elizabeth poured out her troubles to King James's
secretary in a letter which is very different from her usual
careless, complimentary messages :—

“Sir,—The Elector sending this bearer to his majesty, I
was desirous to let you understand something of his estate,
as of this place. Himself, at this last assembly, got an
ague, which though it hath held him not long, yet hath it
made him weak and look very ill: since his fits left him,
he is very heavy, and so extremely melancholy, as I never
saw in my life so great an alteration in any. I cannot
tell what to say to it, but I think he hath so much business
at this time as troubles his mind too much; but if I may
say truth, I think there is some that doth trouble him too
much, for I find they desire he should bring me to be all
Dutch, and to their fashions, which I neither have been
bred to, nor is necessary in everything I should follow;
neither will I do it, for I find there zs that would set me
in a lower rank than them that have gone before me;
which I think they do the prince wrong in putting into
his head at this time, when he is but too melancholy.”!

The last few sentences refer to a vexatious question
which was continually cropping up during these years.
James 1. was chiefly responsible for the trouble. He had
extorted from™ Frederic, just before the latter left England,
a promise that Elizabeth, as the daughter of a king, should
give precedence to no German princes or princesses what-
soever. The claim was not justified by history: it is an
instance of that petty silliness which negatives the claim
of the British Solomon to real statesmanship. In this case,
though Elizabeth was for a time allowed to take precedence
over her husband and her mother-in-law, the privilege,
instead of adding any credit to England, only tended to

1 Everett-Green, vol. v., p. 266.
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make the Princess and her country odious in the eyes of
the Germans. At the Heidelberg court, where the question
alienated Elizabeth from the worthy Louisa Juliana and
almost brought about strained relations between herself and
her husband, the claim was bad enough; but when the
Electress went to visit the other princes, it became intoler-
able. Elizabeth herself would have been ready to give way,
but James would admit no compromise, and wrote violent
letters forbidding any surrender.! The difficulty for a time
assumed quite serious proportions, but at last was unsatis-
factorily shelved: Louisa Juliana retired from her son's
court, and Elizabeth resolved for the present not to pay
any more visits. The whole affair must have made her
doubly regret that her husband had not'the status of a king.

Less serious but somewhat similar disputes arose in con-
nection with the Englishmen who had followed Elizabeth
to Germany. Some 200 of these remained at Heidelberg,
even when the English Commissioners had returned home.
At least half of them had no connection whatever with the
Princess. They hung around the court and made them-
selves generally disagreeable, consuming the Elector’s sub-
stance, and not concealing their poor opinion of his subjects ;
and, of course, Elizabeth herself was regarded as responsible
for their misdeeds.

It was, indeed, too true that for many of her difficulties,
Elizabeth had only herself to blame. Schomberg, again
and again, complains that she is culpably *facile.”” ¢«Madame
allows herself to be led by anybody, and for fear of giving
offence to some one, is almost afraid of speaking to any
body, this makes some of her people assume a little more
authority than they should do.”*® So, too, as of old, she
was always running into debt. Her personal extravagance

! Hist. MS. Com.,, 2nd Report, App. p. 52.
? Everett-Green, vol. v., p. 255.
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was bad, but her liberality was worse. ‘Every day people
beg of Madame,” writes Schomberg, ‘“and right or wrong
she cannot refuse, however much she may be herself in-
convenienced.”! And again: ‘“Madame has no resolution,
no consideration, is too liberal to the unfortunate, which I
call rather fear, irresolution, pusillanimity than a virtuous
liberality.” * '

Colonel Schomberg, the writer of these criticisms, was the
main prop of the whole court. He had been Frederic’s
right-hand man ever since his accession to the Electorate.
James had recognised the colonel’s honesty and ability
when the latter was attending his prince in England; and
on their departure the king had assigned him a pension
and had appointed him to be English Agent to the pro-
testant Princes of Germany. Thus Schomberg had not
only to manage the Heidelberg court as the major-domo
of Frederic, but had also to represent the English interests
and be responsible to the English king. As he explained
to James, it was a most difficult position. ¢ Your majesty
must consider that I have a young prince and princess, an
administrator, mother-in-law, sisters, aunts and every one
their trains; everybody wishes to govern; everybody believes
that I do more for one than another.” He might well
exclaim, “Have I not a miserable life?’ 3

Yet his efforts had their results. The English who had
no business at Heidelberg were sent off, those who remained
were strictly supervised, and in order to avoid the quarrels
with the “Allemans”, a special table was set apart for
them at meals.

Then Schomberg turned his attention to Elizabeth herself.
He drew up a long document of candid, practical advice.

1 Everett-Green, vol. v., p. 262.
2 Ibid., vol. v., p. 268.
3 Ibid., vol. v., p. 256.
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A few paragraphs will be sufficient to show what was the
actual condition of affairs at the court of Heidelberg.

1. “Your Highness should ever seek to please God and
the prince, and to reprove those who try to sow dissensions
between you.

3. Never grant anything on the first request, but answer
to all—‘I will consider '—¢I will think of it '—¢I will see,’—then
if you find it reasonable, grant it of your own acc.:ord, as
from a heroic liberality, and never from fear, fof your
highness’s goodness is abused.

5. Have a wardrobe in which to put all the old dresses,
and every year examine them—choose those you will not
wear again, and give them as you please, but have a list
kept of all, with the names of those to whom you gave them.”

“For the direction of your servants:—

4. Prevent gossiping between servants of all grades;
they only combine together to resist your commands: and
let order and reason govern your highness, not the prattle
of maids or valets, to whom you are now enslaved; and
while they thus abuse your goodness, you will always be
despised and lose your control over your people.

5. Let it be known that you will be ruled by reason;
that you abhor disobedience and flattery and lying;
that you will hear no tales, or importunities; that you will
have no coquetting in your presence; that the men-servants
shall' keep their places at the door, so that when you want
a little private conversation, you may not be obliged to
retire to your bed-room or dressing-room;” etc.'

By his indefatigable care Schomberg actually succeeded

in temporarily extricating Elizabeth from her debts and
difficulties. In writing to the English secretary he proudly

! Everett-Green, vol. v., pp. 26g—270.
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summarises his achievements as follows: ‘1 have brought up
the prince, reformed the court, installed Madame, maintained
the balance proper for the preservation of their highnesses,
offended everybody to serve his Majesty and Madame, and
so acted that his Majesty can never with truth, hear any
reproach or reflection upon these personages, though married
so young, assisted so little, left, flattered by everybody ; and
it is I alone who have had this burden upon my shoulders.”!

These were not empty boasts on the part of Schomberg.
The value of his services to the court was fully recognised
by others. In 1616 Sir Henry Wotton, then English
ambassador at Venice, spent some days at Heidelberg, and
sent home to James a long report as to the condition
of Palatine affairs. After describing Frederic himself who
“par boutades is merry, but for the most part cogitative,
or (as they here call it) malincolique;” after noticing the
staid and solemn manners that prevailed at the court, and
after discussing the difficulties of the question of preced
ence, and the measures by which ‘the domestic differ-
ences” had been as well settled as they could be, he
commences to praise the colonel: “I must both by my
own most assured information here from others and by
her Highness' particular and serious commandment give
your Majesty this account of him. That he is the only
sincere and resolute friend that she hath found since her
being here. That without his continual vigilance and power
with the prince, she had been much prejudiced both in
her dignity and the rest, not so much by the prince his
own motions as by the infusions of others and particularly
(as I conceive) of the old Electoress.”?

1 Schomberg to Winwood, May 24, 1615, Everett-Green, vol. v., p. 277.

2 Wotton’s Despatch, 23 April, 1616, S. P. For.: Venice, vol. xxii.; Iam
indebted to the courtesy of Mr. L. Pearsall Smith for a transcript of this
despatch.
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But Schomberg was not to bear for long the burden of his
arduous duties. In 1615, after many years of courtship,
he had married Mistress Anne Dudley, Elizabeth’s principal
lady-in-waiting. The next year, Anne died in child-birth,
and Schomberg soon followed her to the grave. To Eliza-
beth the two deaths were a loss which even the hurried
return of the affectionate old Lady Harington could not
make good.

How, it may be asked, did these deaths, how did these
new responsibilities as Electress Palatine and as a mother,
affect Elizabeth's character? It had been naturally sweet
and merry: in these six years it should have become
stronger and deeper. Yet, so far as it is possible to judge
of such matters, there was no material development. Eliza-
beth at twenty-three years of age appears to have been still
the girl of sixteen, and in some respects almost the child of
ten. This may have been simply the Nemesis of her good looks
and royal rank; the result of being everywhere and always
flattered and spoiled; or perhaps it can be explained by
the supposition that she had inherited some of her mother’s
perpetually infantile youth.

Certainly her troubles and responsibilities did not make
a great impression on her. Though on hearing of her
mother’s death, which occurred in 1619, she does indeed
tell James that ¢‘sadness weighs my heart so that it
hinders me from writing as I ought,” her ‘“extreme
regret” does not seem to have been of long duration,
nor, considering how little she had seen of Queen Anne,
need this be to her discredit. Of Anne Dudley, who
had been her companion since childhood, the Princess
writes: ‘“She is a great loss to me for she was very care-
ful in all that concerned me.” And similarly when her
other friends die she is at the most “very sorry.” Her
affection for her children seems similarly to have been of
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a somewhat casual kind. She found her little “black baby"*
as good as a doll, or a pet. An amusing description of
the Electress with her monkeys and her children was writ-
ten to Sir Dudley Carleton by one of her ladies, who
facetiously calls herself «the Right Reverend Mistress Eliza-
beth Apsley, chief governor to all the monkeys and the
dogs.”—“Her Highness is very well, and takes great de-
light in those fine monkeys you sent hither, which now
are grown so proud as they will come to nobody but her
Highness, who hath them in her bed every morning; and
the little prince, he is so fond of them as he says he
desires nothing but such monkeys as his own.... They
do make very good sport, and her Highness very merry.”?

However, Elizabeth retained the charms and virtues as
well as the childishness of her girlhood. Lord Doncaster’s
praises of her to James, in 1619, do not read like mere
courtly flatteries:—*Concerning her Highness, I can say
no more than that she is that same devout, good, sweet
princess your Majesty’s daughter should be, and she was
ever; obliging all hearts that come near her by her courtesy,
and so dearly loving and beloved of the Prince her hus-
band, that it is a joy to all that behold them.”*

During these first six years of her married life (1613—
1619) the ‘“good, sweet Princess” was too much busied
with the amusements and troubles of her court, to disturb
herself greatly with the politics of the time. Yet it was
during these same years that the Palatinate, under the weak
control of her husband, was drifting into the vortex of the
political storm.

1 Elizabeth to James, Dec. 14, 1615, quoted in Everett-Green, vol. v.,
p- 278.

2 Domestic Papers, 1618, quoted in Everett-Green, vol. v., p. 288.

8 Gardiner, “Letters and Documents illustrating the relations between Eng-
land and Germany,” vol,, i., p. 118.
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When, in 1614, Frederic came of age and took over
the government of his state, and the leadership of the
Protestant Union, there lay before him two alternative
policies: either he could attempt to unite the Lutherans
and Calvinists of the Empire in the defence of their com-
mon interests, or he could help to form a more aggressive
alliance, which, while resting on a broad basis of hostility
to the Hapsburgs and Catholicism, should be worked
mainly in the interests of Calvinism. Of the two alter-
natives, the way of reconciliation was the more difficult.
There had never been any love lost between the Protes-
tant Union and the Lutherans; while the Calvinists of the
former were democratic and cosmopolitan, the latter were
aristocratic and conservative, and were controlled by
John George, Elector of Saxony, a man who, in the mo-
ments when he was neither hunting nor drinking, generally
inclined to side with the Emperor and authority. Yet,
difficult as it was, united action between the two branches
of Protestantism was the only safe policy; and it was a
course that appeared practicable to Maurice, Landgrave of
Hesse-Cassel, the ablest of the Calvinists.

Frederic, however, chose the more dangerous and the
more showy of the alternatives. He could scarcely help
his choice. Brought up by his French uncle, the Duke
of Bouillon, the Huguenot who was still showing France
how to make of sedition a profitable employment; a dis-
ciple of his Dutch uncle, the great Maurice, arch-enemy
of Romanism and the Hapsburgs; married to the daughter
of the English James, the schemer who for the time being
was inclined to fancy himself as the champion of Protes-
tantism, Frederic naturally looked at German politics
through foreign glasses, and as naturally stepped into the
place marked out for him by the world as the represent-
ative of the international anti-Catholic alliance. Moreover,
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with his hesitating, pleasure-loving character, he was in the
hands of his father’s ministers—Christian of Anhalt, the
Dhonas, Solms, Camerarius,—and these had already com-
mitted themselves and their state to the dangerous forward
policy. The Palatinate had taken a leading part in the
events of 1608—1610, events which had shown that the
Calvinists had the desire (though the death of Henry IV.
had deprived them of the power) to ruin the Hapsburgs.
Thus, even before the accession of Frederic V., the Palatinate
had thrown down the glove to the Hapsburgs and the
Catholics.

For the time being, however, there existed a suspicious
truce between the two parties. While the Calvinists
could not recover from the defection of France, the Cath-
olics were crippled by the luke-warmness of the Spanish
Hapsburgs, by the existence of a powerful Protestant nobil-
ity in Austria, Hungary, and Bohemia, and, above all, by
the want of union in their own ranks.

It was out of this want of union that there arose a
question around which the efforts of all parties centred. The
right wing of the Catholics realised that Matthias, the
reigning Emperor, was not the man to lead them to victory.
They therefore placed all their hopes on Matthias’ cousin,
Ferdinand, Archduke of Styria and Carinthia, a pupil of
the Jesuits, who had already won his laurels by the
extirpation of Protestantism in his own Duchies. Their
immediate object was to secure the recognition of Ferdinand
as heir to Matthias, (1) in the hereditary dominions of
the Hapsburgs, and (2) in the Empire. And consequently
the chief aim of Frederic and the Calvinists was to prevent
this recognition.

If Frederic had confined himself to this aim, he would
simply have been doing openly what the jealous Matthias
was doing in an underhand manner. But instead of this
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he involved his legitimate opposition in a network of adven-
turous and often seditious schemes. In these matters, how-
ever, Frederic was little more than the willing tool of his
cabinet, and especially of Christian of Anhalt, who, though
in name only the Governor of the Upper Palatinate, was
in reality the manager of the whole Palatinate and of the
Protestant Union. Christian had been originally a mere
soldier. Then, when fighting for Henry IV. in France, he
had embraced Calvinism and the restless politics of the
Huguenots, and for the last 20 years he had been Gover-
nor of the Upper Palatinate and the moving spirit of the
Calvinists in Germany. He was a believer, firstly, in
intrigue, secondly, in “blood and iron”.

A good example of the political methods pursued by
the Palatine Cabinet is to be found in the negotiations
which it was carrying on at the beginning of the year
1617. One agent, Christopher von Dohna, who had been
sent to Bohemia and Austria, reported that the dissolution
of the Hapsburg monarchy was at hand: that in each
country there was a pretender ready to assume the crown
on the death of Matthias, and that everywhere men were
looking to the Union as the champion of Protestantism.
A few weeks later another agent, Camerarius, was intriguing
with the Bohemian nobles, who promised never to elect
Ferdinand to their crown; and he then proceeded to
Saxony, where he suggested to John George that Bohemia
would make an admirable addition to his Electorate—a
suggestion to which the Elector sensibly replied that he
had enough already, and did not wish to hazard that which
he had.!

These negotiations illustrate the futile as well as the
mischievous character of the Palatine politics. Within four

1 Gindely, Geschichte des Dreissig Jihrigen Krieges, vol. i, pp. 186—38.
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months, Matthias allowed Ferdinand to be brought for-
ward as his heir, and the Bohemians, surprised and in-
timidated, ‘““accepted” the Catholic zealot as their future
king. A few months later their example was followed by
the Hungarians. The Palatine Cabinet struggled hard to
prevent the victory of the Catholics being completed by
the election of Ferdinand as King of the Romans. They
implored other candidates to stand: but it was in vain.
Ferdinand paid a visit to Dresden and danced with the
Saxon Elector’s daughter: it seemed certain that he would
secure John George’s vote and a majority in the Electoral
College. And so, by the March of 1618, Frederic was
realising that all his recent plans were failing: he saw
approaching the reign of the enemy whom he had irritated
with his countless intrigues: but neither he nor his advisers
had any clear policy with which to meet the future dangers.

It was at this point, that on March 23rd there occurred
the famous ¢Defenestration” at Prague. The Bohemians
had soon discovered the consequences of their rash acknow-
ledgment of Ferdinand. It had become clear that the
Hapsburg government, by questioning some of the privileges
which had been won by the Protestants in 1609, was be-
ginning a systematic attempt to restore the authority of
Catholicism. The discontent had simmered for a time.
Now, by hurling the Hapsburg ministers from the window
of the Council Chamber, Count Thurn, the leader of the
Bohemian agitators, suddenly committed the country to a
general revolt.

The event brought Germany face to face with the civil
war which had been long foreseen. In its actual presence
even the Bohemians themselves recoiled, and John George
of Saxony was only giving expression to the general
feeling when he announced that his anxiety was to ‘“help
to put out the fire.”
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But to this general feeling there was one important ex-
ception. By the Palatine Cabinet, struggling in the toils
of its own diplomacy, the Bohemian insurrection was wel-
comed as a fortunate diversion. With redoubled energy
Frederic and his councillors began once more fondly to
weave across Europe their tangle of political intrigue. At
the best their schemes had been shifting and opportunist.
Now in the stress of the crisis Frederic seemed altogether
to lose his bearings. His plans became not only wild, but
contradictory. For instance, while on the one hand he
undertook to act as mediator in conjunction with the Elector
of Saxony, on the other hand it was he, Frederic, who
repeatedly dissuaded the Bohemians from coming to terms
with the enemy. Thus, again, in June 1619, there were
two Palatine agents in Bohemia, one of whom was publicly
urging the Duke of Savoy’s election to the vacant crown,
while the other was secretly working in favour of Frederic
himself. !

At first Frederic’s efforts seemed to be meeting with a
certain success. It was thanks chiefly to the help of Mans-
feld’s troops, which he provided in co-operation with the
Duke of Savoy, that the Bohemians were able in 1618 to
sweep the Austrian army almost completely from Bohemia,
and in the spring of 1619 to advance up to the very walls
of Vienna. The Protestant Union, moreover, had been
induced by Frederic to send an army to the Upper Pala-
tinate; and there were fair expectations that greater assis-
tance might be contributed by his other allies.

By the summer of 1619, however, these hopes had
been for the most part falsified. The Duke of Savoy was
thinking better of his former engagements. James was
consuming time with a useless embassy. The Protestants

1 Gindely, *“History of Thirty Years’ War,” vol. i,, p. 144.
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of the Union were falling away. The Bohemians themselves
were being driven back on Prague, and as a last resource
were preparing to elect some foreigner as their sovereign,
who should extricate them from their difficulties.

On the other hand, the Catholics had been steadily con-
solidating their strength; and since Matthias had fortunately
died in the March of 1619, they were confidently looking
forward to the immediate election of Ferdinand as Emperor.

In short, a year and a half’s ceaseless negotiation had
only succeeded in entangling Frederic in a worse predi-
cament than that in which he had been at the outset. He
had encouraged the Bohemians to revolt for his own ends,
and now he found himself involved in their ruin. Nor was it
possible to expect that such a man as Ferdinand would ever
forgive him for the part which he had recently been playing.

And so during the month of August, 1619, two fateful
assemblies were holding their sessions. Few can have
awaited their decisions more breathlessly than did Elizabeth
at Heidelberg. First came the news from the Electoral
College at Frankfort: on the 28th, Ferdinand had been
unanimously chosen Emperor—the Palatine proctor after
vain opposition having given his vote with the others. Then
came the news from Prague: the day before Ferdinand had
been chosen Emperor, Frederic of the Palatinate had been
elected by an overwhelming majority to the Bohemian
crown which had so lately been wrested from Ferdinand. The
long-drawn-out crisis had culminated. If Frederic refused
the offered crown, he would acknowledge his complete
defeat by the Catholics. If he accepted it, nothing could
be looked for but open, bitter war, until one of the two
rivals should be utterly ruined.

Frederic realised now, when it was too late, the awkward-
ness of the dilemma. On hearing the news at Amberg
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he at once wrote off to Elizabeth. ‘“Les Etats de Bo-
héme, "’ he said, “m’ont eleu unanimement pour leur Roy,
ont fait des feux de joye, tiré le canon. Croyées que je
suis bien en peine & quoy me résoudre.” ' Although Fre-
deric could persuade himself that he had not been aiming
at the Bohemian crown, he knew well that he had com-
mitted himself too deeply, to be able now to draw back
with safety.

Everyone was aware that he had been secretly supporting
the Bohemians. His troops had actually attacked and
scattered a Spanish force that was on its way to invade
Bohemia. If he were now to desert the Bohemians, he
would only be giving their common enemy an opportunity
to crush each of them in detail. Was it not, then, clearly
to the advantage of both parties that they should unite
their forces, and that over these united forces there should
be one common leader—even Frederic, King of Bohemia.
and Elector Palatine? And besides the question of expediency,
was not Frederic bound in honour not to betray in the
hour of their danger those whom he had encouraged in
their daring rebellion?

But, on the other hand, even the optimistic Frederic could
not disguise from himself that it was ‘“a very hazardous
affair;” and the nearer he approached, the greater did the
difficulties appear. The Duke of Savoy and the Elector
of Saxony, the two other candidates who had been talked
of for the Bohemian crown, had understood the real
danger and emptiness of the honour, and had refused to
enter the trap themselves. The Bohemians had chosen
Frederic because ‘‘they hoped that he would be able to
induce foreign nations to do that for them which they
had deplorably failed to do for themselves.” * By establish-

1 Von Aretin, Beytrage, vol. vii., p. 148.
? Gardiner, History of England, vol. iii.,, p. 315.
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ing a new constitution before the election, they had arranged
that their future king should be but a magnificent menial:
the nobles were to remain the masters, and were to be
allowed to continue their misconduct of affairs. Already
it was becoming clear that these Bohemian rebels, who
were more moved by their personal interests than by true
patriotism, were not the men to found a free and stable
kingdom. Moreover, the Heidelberg councillors were begin-
ning to suspect that the resources and allies on which they
had been wont to reckon, would appear much less imposing
when politics passed from paper to practice. Now, too, they
were beginning to appreciate the dire realities that would
result from their paper schemes. Frederic was to indulge
in this desperate adventure at the cost of plunging all
Germany, perhaps all Europe, into war, and of bringing
almost certain desolation upon his own defenceless Palatinate.

Well might Frederic hesitate. He was distracted with
contradictory advice. From Frankfort the assembled Electors
wrote solemnly warning him against precipitating a war
which they prophesied would outlast their lives. Similar
messages poured in from the individual Princes of Germany
and the neutral European powers. Even the Protestant
Union shrank in alarm from the rash enterprise of their
leader, and stipulated that if the crown were accepted, its
own troops should not be employed to defend Frederic
in Bohemia. Last of all Louisa Juliana tearfully implored
her son not to accept the fatal honour, But the advice
of the world at large was counteracted by the influence of
a few persons to whom Frederic had long been wont to
look for direction. Christian of Anhalt, already appointed
by the Bohemians to be the general of the new king,
threatened Frederic with perpetual infamy if he should now
draw back from the cause of Bohemia. The Dutch Maurice
declared that he was preparing fool’s coats for those who
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should dissuade his nephew from the undertaking. The Duke
of Bouillon was in favour of Frederic's joining forces with
the Bohemians, but he wisely recommended him not to
accept the invidious title of King.

The Duke of Bouillon had laid bare the real crux of the
question. The fate of Frederic was indeed bound up,
for better or for worse, with the fate of the Bohemians.
But would it not be better to make an open alliance with
them without accepting their crown? By so doing, he
would not offend the Protestant princes, jealous of his
elevation to royal rank, and he would not be cutting off
all hope of future reconciliation with Ferdinand.

That Frederic did not adopt such a course is chiefly
to be explained by the personal characteristics of himself
and his wife, by their zealous Calvinism and their passion
for' social enjoyments and social distinctions.

When Elizabeth heard of the election, she at once wrote
to Frederic putting before him the religious aspect of the
crisis. She said that, since God directs everything and had
so ordained, she left it to her husband to decide whether
the crown should be accepted. She herself—the letter con-
tinned—would be ready to follow the Divine call, and
thereby to suffer what God should ordain,—yes, she was
ready, if it were necessary, even to pawn her jewels, and
whatever else she had in the world. This view of the elec-
tion as being a Divine call was constantly urged on the
Elector and Electress by the Calvinist clergy, both in Eng-
land and in the Palatinate.

It was on this ground that Frederic ultimately justified
his decision. He wrote to the Duke of Bouillon: I
beg you to believe that this resolution does not proceed
from any ambitious desire to aggrandize my House; but
that my only end is to serve God and His Church.... It
is a Divine call which T ought not to neglect.”
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Although Frederic liked to shift his own responsibility
on to Providence, he was very far from being insensible
to the attractive glitter of the crown itself. Ever since he
had married a king’s daughter, there had been strange
rumours that he would one day gain for her the royal
dignity.

To Elizabeth herself the new rank must have been par-
ticularly welcome. She had been bred up to expect that
one day she would become a Queen. Even if her mother’s
taunts at the ‘“Goodwife Palsgrave” had ceased to rankle
in her mind, she could not have been blind to the fact
that those disputes as to precedence which were spoiling
her enjoyment of German society, could apparently be
settled in no other way than in this which had now pre-
sented itself.

Yet Elizabeth’s part in determining her husband’s action
has lately been questioned.' Such a point as the personal
influence of a wife on a husband it is as impossible to
prove as to disprove. However, the little evidence that is
extant seems to agree best with the traditional view which
ascribed an important part to the young Electress. It has
been seen that Elizabeth urged on Frederic the religi-
ous standpoint which he ultimately adopted. It has also
been made clear that she had very strong motives for de-
siring the crown. Her readiness to sell her jewels was
the common talk of the time—and a woman like Elizabeth,
who was accustomed to cover herself with precious stones
after the manner of a Russian Icon, could not have ex-
pressed more forcibly her devotion to a cause. Moreover,

1 Opel in Sybel's Historische Zeitschrift, vol. xxiii,, p. 294; Article on
Elizabeth, in Dictionary of National Biography, by Prof. Ward. The latter
attaches importance to a statement of Elizabeth’s grand-daughter, whose
evidence as to the youth of her grand-mother surely cannot be unexcep-
tionable,” as he maintains.
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Frederic was ever a devoted, almost an uxorious hus-
band; and it is at least consistent with general probability
that he should have been influenced on this, as he cer-
tainly was on later occasions, by the virile, decisive com-
mon-sense of his wife. There is one piece of evidence
in which it is possible to touch the solid ground of fact.
Elizabeth was especially thanked by the Bohemian represen-
tatives for her efforts_in persuading her husband to his
decision; and these thanks were gratefully accepted by her.
Lastly, there is the picturesque tradition which is preserved
in histories written at the end of the 17th century. The
account of Elizabeth begging the Elector day and night
not to deprive their children of a crown, cannot be other
than a gross exaggeration; but when she is said to have
vowed that ‘“she would rather eat pickled cabbage (sawuer-
kraut) at a king’s table than dainties at that of an elector,”
we seem to have either a touch of the real Elizabeth or
else a good imitation of the impetuous forcible speeches
that were entirely characteristic of her.

On the whole, therefore, it seems probable that while
Frederic could not desert the Bohemians with either safety
or honour, Elizabeth had a large share—though one that
cannot be accurately measured—in urging her husband
to his fatal decision of accepting their crown. If this is
the case, our English Princess must also bear some of the
responsibility for the horrors of the following Thirty Years’
War.!

Though Frederic and Elizabeth were involving Germany
in a war to the death, their sin was but thoughtlessness.

! For the question of the Bohemian election, /22 (in addition to the
ordinary biographies of Elizabeth) Gindely, Geschichte, vol. ii., pp. 227—234;
Seltl, vol. i., pp. 149—157; Hiusser, vol. ii., pp. 306—313; Menzel, Neuere
Geschichte, vol. vi,, pp. 339—348; Gardiner, vol. iii., pp. 309—311; Span-
heim, Memoires de Louyse Juliane, pp. 136—140.
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In their own minds they fondly imagined that they were
acting for the best. The toy pageants of court life they
could understand, but in serious politics they quickly found
themselves out of their depths. As for Elizabeth she was
about to play at being queen in Bohemia, much as she
had played at being queen at Combe Abbey. As for
Frederic, Camerarius wrote “Pfalz machet die Sache sich
selbst leicht, und setzet Alles auf Gott und gute Hoff-
nung.”' On August 13th, “Pfalz” had remarked in a
gossipy letter to Elizabeth, that Ferdinand in seeking to
gain one crown would very likely lose two.? And with
similar jocosity had the Electress notified Ferdinand's elec-
tion to Sir Dudley Carleton: “They have chosen here a
blinde Emperour, for he hath but one eye, and that not
very good. I am afrayed he will be lowsie, for he hath
not monie to buy himself cloths.”?

Frederic’s hesitation as to the Bohemian crown lasted
for some four weeks. At first he had replied to the Bohe-
mian Estates that he could not accept their proposal until he
had received from England the consent of his father-in-law.
But before his envoy to James could have returned, the Bohe-
mians sent to press for an immediate acceptance, privately
hinting that they might be forced to look elsewhere for a
king if the Elector did not close with their offer immedi-
ately. Thereupon Frederic decided to meet the Bohemian
delegates without waiting for James's consent, being assured
by all that the English King would not desert his daughter;
and Elizabeth insisted on accompanying her husband.

When it came to the point of actually saying farewell
to Heidelberg, the home of their peaceful and prosperous

! Camerarius to the Chancellor at Heidelberg, Oct. 6th, 1620, quoted in
Menzel, vol. vi., p. 348, n.

2 Bromley’s Collection of Royal Letters, p. 2.

3 Gardiner, Letters and Documents, Second Series, p. I.
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married life, their spirits were overwhelmed by the solemnity
of their undertaking and the terrible uncertainty of the
future. Sunday, the 26th of September, was spent in
religious devotion and the hearing of sermons. The next
morning, at 8 o’clock, ‘“these princely personages’’—&o
wrote the Rev. John Harrison, an Englishman who wit-
nessed the scene—¢ with their train, in their coaches, and
some on horses and wagons, without any vain pomp or
ostentation, but rather tears in their eyes lifted up to
heaven, quietly departed—And no heart but would have
been ravished to have seen the sweet demeanour of that
great lady at her departure, with tears trickling down her
cheeks, so mild, courteous and affable, (yet with a princely
reservation so well becoming so great a majesty) like
another Queen Elizabeth, revived also again in her the
only Pheenix of the world.” !

As the long procession moved away, Louisa Juliana
(who was to be left at Heidelberg in charge of Frederic's
two youngest children) watched sorrowfully from a window.
“Ach!” she cried, “nun zieht die Pfalz nach BShmen.”

At Waldsassen, on the borders of the Upper Palatinate
and Bohemia, the Princes were greeted by the delegates of
their new kingdom in 18 coaches. After the conditions of
Frederic’s rule had been finally arranged, the leisurely
journey was continued; and Prague was at last reached
on October 31st. It was long since the Bohemian capital
had enjoyed a pageant so magnificent as this royal entry.
Frederic's subjects, new and old, and his Dutch mercen-
aries; cavalry, infantry, and nobles, all in gorgeous uni-
forms: the king himself on his charger, his person well
set off by a suit of dark brown and silver: the Queen in a
carriage embroidered with silver and gold, with liveries of

! Harrison, Relation of the Departure of Prince Frederic, 1619.
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violet-coloured velvet: a red satin carriage containing the
Countess of Solms, Stewardess of the Court; yet more
carriages with Prince Frederic Henry, and the rest of the
royal suite, and again more uniforms containing more
soldiers—such was the procession which wound slowly
through the city to the royal palace, the massive Hradschin
on the right bank of the Moldau. Equally elaborate and
equally costly were the ceremonials of November 4th and
7th, when first Frederic and then Elizabeth were solemnly
crowned and anointed. The Bohemians were jubilant at
having once again a king of their own choosing.

Yet all the regal robes and the holy oil of Prague could
give no more to Frederic than the outward semblance of
kingship. And this was generally perceived, in spite of
the blind rejoicings of the Bohemians. ‘This prince has
entered into a fine labyrinth!" had been the Pope’s remark
when he heard of Frederic's decision. Camerarius, the
Palatine minister, a few days after his arrival at Prague,
had to confess that the Pope had indeed spoken the truth.
“Omnia enim sunt in confusione. The Exchequer is empty,
and everything in a ruinous condition.” ' The Jesuits
had prophesied that Frederic would be but a ¢ Winter
King;"” that he would go with the snow. “Fools" was
the epithet which Ferdinand had applied to his revolted
subjects when he heard that they had elected Frederic.

All this contempt was but too well grounded. Frederic
found everywhere predominant among his new subjects
divisions, selfishness, and disorder. The various territories
of which the kingdom was composed were but half-hearted
in their recognition of the common interests. Silesia,
Moravia, Lusatia, each was jealous of its own provin-
cial independence, each anxious to reduce its share in

! Menzel, vol. vi,, p. 340, note.
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the common burden. Nor was there even a strong
religious bond of union in the country. Though the Catho-
lics were only a very small minority of the population, the
Protestants were split into two sections: those who repre-
sented the former Utraquist party, were now not unlike
the Lutherans; the others, called the ¢ Bohemian Brethren,”
were descended from the older Taborites and, from their
extremer Puritanism, had more in common with the Calvin-
ists. A yet more fatal division was that between the
classes. The great nobles who had begun the revolt, were
anxious that the towns should entirely finance the under-
taking. The towns objected and were jealous of the nobles’
monopoly of the government. The peasants who in the
Hussite wars had, as freemen, risen of their own accord to
defeat all the armies of Germany, were being reduced to
the condition of serfs; and hence during the critical period
of the invasion of 1620 many of the nobles were occupied
in repressing the agricultural risings of those whom they
ought to have been leading against the foreign enemy.
The truth is that this Bohemian revolt of the 17th century
was only a national and religious movement, in so far as
the interests of the nation and of religion had been iden-
tified with the interests of a few individuals. The want of
a common sympathy in the nation was the more disastrous,
since the country had brought forth no great leader—no
Zizka, or Podebrad, as in former times. Thurn, who had
instigated the revolt, was neither a general nor a statesman.
He was a bold adventurer, a man who had scarcely learnt
to speak the Bohemian language. Without the necessary
dictator, the Bohemians had no clear method either in the
field or in the administration. The various armies wandered
about ““veluti in turba cyclopica.”' The war taxes which

! Menzel, vol. vi., p. 342.
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had been voted by the Estates were uncollected, and the
mercenaries who were called in to take the place of the
free fighters of the 15th century, were, on account of the
non-payment of their wages, in a state of chronic mutiny.

Such was the chaos out of which Frederic would have
to create order and victory. Even a born ruler of men
could scarcely have avoided failure where the spirit of self-
sacrifice and of disinterested enthusiasm was so rare. What
then could be expected of Frederic, the courtly dilettante,
the well-meaning blunderer; Frederic who to the Bohemi-
ans was a German and a foreigner, and whom the jealous
nobles had invited to reign rather than to rule?

The country had happily been removed from the fear of
immediate disaster during the winter of 1619—20. Bouc-
quoi, the general who had been leading the Imperialist
invasion, had shortly after Frederic’s election been suddenly
recalled to defend Vienna against Bethlen Gabor, Prince
of Transylvania.

This hero of forty-two battles was playing with great success
in Hungary a part similar to that which was being attempted
by Frederic in Bohemia. Thus he was a really effective
ally to the Bohemians, and by drawing off Boucquoi, left
them free to reorganise the country in readiness for the
attack which would certainly be renewed by the Imperialists
and their allies in the spring. Already preparations for
driving out the Winter King resounded from Germany,
and from the Spanish lands, from Italy and from Poland.

In spite of the cloud which was hanging over the kingdom,
the winter was passed by the Bohemians without much
outward concern. At Prague the court was gay and ani-
mated. Here there lay before the King and Queen an
obvious task—to establish their position in the hearts of
their new subjects. The day after their entry into Prague,
Elizabeth told the Duke of Buckingham in a hurried letter
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that they had been ‘received with a great show of love
of all sortes of people.”*

After a time, however, evidences of their popularity be-
came rarer, The Bohemians were indeed delighted when,
on Dec. 6th, a Prince was born among them, who was
to grow up to be the Cavalter Rupert of English History.
In the following spring the Estates were persuaded to
nominate Prince Frederic Henry to the succession, and
to settle on the royal family varjous lands and revenues,
as though a dynasty were commencing which might last
for centuries. But on the whole, Frederic and Elizabeth
were unsuccessful in winning the love and loyalty of their
new subjects. Very possibly their ejection in 1620 by the
Hapsburgs may have saved them from a troubled reign
with a yet more ignominious ending.

The history of the Winter King and Queen is largely
composed of the misunderstandings with their subjects—
misunderstandings that are often apparently trivial. The
Queen and her ladies were the first to incur criticism.
They were complete foreigners, and were content to
remain such. Even conversation with the ladies of Bohemia
was impossible: the one party could speak no Czech and
but clumsy German, the other neither French nor English.
Elizabeth’s happy-go-lucky character was discovered by
the Praguers within four days of her arrival. Gossip said
she was sometimes an hour late for church and meals.
Moreover, the Bohemian ladies were scandalized by the
foreigners’ low-necked dresses; and what was especially
galling, was the impression that the English women were
often laughing at the homely ways of Bohemia. When
the goodwives of Prague brought the Queen a present of
some of their home-made cakes, they were greatly offended

~

! Hist. MS. Com., 10th Report, App. i., p. go.
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to see the court ladies exchanging ill-mannered jokes at their
gift. Elizabeth, indeed, had the tact to shake hands in
British fashion and to thank them for their present in a
few words of Czeck. But in private she could be as dis-
dainful of her new subjects, as any of her ladies."

Then Frederic also lost his popularity. The Praguers
criticized all his endeavours to win their affection, his
absence of pomp, the simple hunting dress in which he
sometimes appeared in public attended by only a single
servant, his condescension in mingling with the nobility
on terms almost of equality, his dancing with their daugh-
ters, and his unkingly capers of delight when he heard of
the birth of Rupert. They observed also his real faults—
especially the want of independence in his character. The
nobles had small reverence for this king who had always
to consult his Palatine advisers, and who spent most of his
time in the company of his wife.

His strong religious views were a more serious cause
of offence. At the instigation of his chaplain, Scultetus,
and possibly of Thurn, Frederic caused all the ¢“idolatrous
abominations” to be torn down from the palace chapel.
The Lutherans were almost as enrag